
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Tuesday, 
11 September 2018 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed 
to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. To Elect a Chair for the Meeting 

2. Apologies for Absence 

3. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

4. Declarations of Interest 

5. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

6. Annual Audit Letter 2017/18 (Pages 7 - 20)

7. Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter (Pages 21 - 56)

8. Budget Monitoring Report - Q1 2018/19 (Pages 57 - 88)

9. Audit & Counter Fraud Update (Pages 89 - 
120)



10.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

11.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in private

Members

Councillors: Lesley Boycott
John Burden
Leslie Hills
Karen Hurdle
William Lambert
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Peter Rayner
Lenny Rolles
Robin Theobald

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Finance & Audit Committee
 

Tuesday, 24 July 2018                                    7:30pm 

Present:

Cllr Karen Hurdle (Chair) 
Cllr Robin Theobald (Vice-Chair)        

Cllrs: Lesley Boycott 
John Burden
Leslie Hills 
William Lambert 
Shane Mochrie-Cox 
Peter Rayner 
Lenny Rolles 

Stuart Bobby 
Sarah Parfitt 

Director (Corporate Services) 
Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

James Larkin Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit 
Executive) 

Alexandra Jarvis 
Andrew Barnett 

Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) 
Principal Accountant (General Fund) 

Darren Wells 
Ben Clarke 

External Auditor, Grant Thornton 
Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

64. Apologies for Absence 

No apologies of absence were received. 

65. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday, 12 June 2018 were signed by the Chair.

66. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were declared. 

67. Provisional Outturn Report 2017-18 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) advised that the report gives details on the 
provisional outturns for 2017-18 and on page 12 of the report there is an executive summary 
which outlines the key points for the General Fund (Revenue), General Fund (Capital), HRA 
(Revenue) and Housing Capital. 

General Fund (Revenue) 

The provisional outturn position for the year was an underspend of £945,890. This was 
generated primarily due to action taken by the council during the year to realise base budget 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



Finance and Audit Committee 24.07.2018

2

reductions through the delivery of Bridging the Gap activity. Action to manage vacancies and 
other workforce matters resulted in employee-related costs being lower than originally 
anticipated and in-year pressures were effectively managed. The Council also benefitted 
from growth in the level of business rates retained, primarily as a result of the Council being 
part of the Kent Business Rates Pool. These contributed to a reduced need to call on the 
Council’s Working Balances, with the level of Working Balances at year end at £7.31m 
(subject to audit), constituted of the minimum working balances of £1.25m, the General Fund 
reserve of £2m and usable Working Balances of £4.06m.
 
Movements in the year have provisionally resulted in a net increase in reserves of
£0.44m, with the level of reserves being £7.06m at start of year and projected to be
£7.50m at year end.

General Fund (Capital) 

The final outturn of the General Fund Capital Programme for the year was £4.40m, against 
budgeted expenditure of £13.74m. Capital budgets totalling £9.29m have been carried 
forward to 2018/19, principally relating to the Council’s Commercial Property Acquisition 
Strategy.

HRA (Revenue) 

At the end of the financial year, income and expenditure was balanced. Main movements 
from the original budget for the year related to a change in funding source for the New 
Build/Acquisition programme, effective management of vacant posts higher than expected 
income from rents and non-dwelling fees and charges and work undertaken during the year 
to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the repairs and maintenance function.

The level of Working Balances at year end remained at £3.0m, the minimum level of 
Working Balances for the HRA. Movements in the year resulted in a net increase in the
General HRA Reserves of £2.82m, with the level of reserves being £4.62m at start of year 
and projected to be £7.44m at year end.

Housing Capital 

The final outturn of the Housing Capital Programme for the year was £13.35m, against the 
budgeted expenditure of £14.77m.

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) and the Principal Accountant (Housing & 
Exchequer) further elaborated on the main points of the report summarising the figures for 
the below areas: 

 The 2017/18 provisional General Fund Revenue Outturn and movements in the 
General Fund working balances and earmarked reserves

 The 2017/18 provisional General Fund Capital Outturn
 The 2017/18 provisional Housing Revenue Account Revenue Outturn and 

movements in the Housing Revenue Account working balances and earmarked 
reserves 

 The 2017/18 provisional Housing Revenue Account Capital Outturn 

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 24.07.2018

3

 The progress of the ‘Bridging the Gap Activity’ and related savings made during 
2017/18 

Market 

A lengthy discussion was had surrounding the Market and the lack of diverse traders there 
which were needed to increase footfall and make the Market a profitable venture. The 
Director (Corporate Services) advised that he would arrange for a document to be circulated 
which outlined further details about the market and the plans to improve its performance.

The Chair thanked the officers for an informative update. 

68. The Audit Findings for Gravesham Borough Council - Year ended 31 
March 2018 - report to follow. 

The Committee was informed of the findings of the council’s External Auditor, Grant 
Thornton UK LLP, from the audit of the council’s financial statements and arrangements for 
securing Value for Money for the year ended 31 March 2018. 

The External Auditor advised that it was concluded that the Council had proper 
arrangements in all significant respects to ensure it delivered value for money in its use of 
resources for the year ending 31 March 2018.

The External Auditor, Grant Thornton advised the Committee that the work to prepare the 
Statement of Accounts for 2017/18 carried out by the finance team was very accurate and 
the external audit produced no significant problems of note. There were a few minor 
amendments agreed that are not included in the report due but none of them were of any 
consequence and the Council’s work was to an excellent standard. An unqualified opinion in 
respect of the financial statements of the Council for the year 2017/18 is anticipated to be 
given by the end of the week. 

In response to a Members concern over who ‘audits the auditors’, the External Auditor, 
Grant Thornton, stated that they have randomly selected audits reviewed by the Financial 
Reporting Council. The FRC review the work, promoting transparency by showing the 
outcome of the audit checks in an audit quality report; the audit quality report on the 
inspection of Grant Thornton’s work gets published annually on the FRC’s website.  

Resolved that the Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

69. Statutory Statement of Accounts 2017-18 - report to follow. 

Members were provided with the audited Statement of Accounts for 2017/18. 

A robust discussion was held between officers and Members and Members were advised 
that as set out in the Audit Findings report, the audit is substantially complete and subject to 
outstanding queries being resolved, the External Auditors anticipate issuing an unqualified 
audit opinion after the Committee meeting. Members were asked to agree that the Chair 
would sign the Statement of Accounts for the Council subject to any final comments received 
by the External Auditor. 

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 24.07.2018

4

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) assured the Committee that any amendments 
received with regard to the Statement of Accounts would be relayed to Members of the 
Committee. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) stated that a letter of representation drafted on 
behalf of the Council in connection with the audit of the Financial Statements of the Council 
is attached at appendix four. It sets out the Councils confirmation that the financial 
statements provide a true and fair view. 
 
Resolved that Members: 

 Considered the updates to the Statement of Accounts for 2017/18, set out in 
Appendix Two as identified by the audit process, and approved the amended 
Statement of Accounts for 2017/18 as attached at Appendix Three.

 Agreed that the Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee sign the Statement of 
Accounts for the Council, subject to any final comments received by the External 
Auditor. Any amendment required to the Statement of Accounts will be notified to 
Members of the Finance & Audit Committee.

 Approved the letter of representation at appendix four to the report for signing by the 
Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee.

70. Review of Finance & Audit Committee Terms of Reference 

Members were informed of updates made to the CIPFA Position Statement on Audit 
Committees in Local Authorities and Police and of a proposal to update the Terms of 
Reference of the Finance & Audit Committee in light of the updated CIPFA Position 
Statement.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) stated that the current Terms of Reference were 
reflected in the Constitution of the council and had remained unchanged for a number of 
years. A copy of the current Terms of Reference of the Committee was provided at Appendix 
Two for Members’ information.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) stated that a proposed update to the Terms of 
Reference was attached at Appendix Four, with a summary of the key updates made 
attached at Appendix Five for Members information.

Members were happy with the minor changes proposed. Members requested that the 
guidance for the committee be updated to reflect any changes and circulated to the 
Committee, with the recent changes highlighted so that Members could easily see what has 
been updated. 

Resolved that the Finance & Audit Committee recommend to Full Council that the proposed 
update to the Terms of Reference of the Finance & Audit Committee be adopted. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8:40pm. 

Page 6



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11 September 2018

Reporting officer: Darren Wells, Grant Thornton UK LLP

Subject: The Annual Audit Letter for Gravesham Borough Council - 
year ended 31 March 2018

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with a summary of the key findings arising from the work carried out by
Grant Thornton LLP at Gravesham Borough Council for the year ended 31 March 2018, as 
set out in the 2017/18 Audit Fee Letter.

Recommendations:
1. The Finance and Audit Committee is invited to note the findings and conclusions of 

the audit work undertaken during 2017/18. 

1. Background

1.1 Grant Thornton LLP, as the council’s auditor, is required to summarise the overall 
findings of the external audit work completed during the financial year to officers, 
members and the public. The Annual Audit Letter attached at appendix two to this 
report provides information on the following areas of work that have been 
completed for the year ended 31 March 2018:

 auditing the 2017/18 financial statements

 assessing the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources (Value for Money Conclusion)

 Certification of the Housing Benefit grant claim

2. Contacts

2.1 Grant Thornton UK LLP are the author of the report. 

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers to this report. 

Page 7 Agenda Item 6



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

   

Legal N/A

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

N/A

Risk 
Assessment

N/A

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

N/A

Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Digital and 
website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

N/A

Page 8



Annual Audit Letter
Year ending 31 March 2018

Year ended 31 March 2018

August 2018

P
age 9



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | August 2018 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive Summary 3

2. Audit of the Accounts 5

3. Value for Money conclus ion 9

Appendices

A  Reports issued and fees 10
Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Darren Wells

Engagement lead

T:  012 9355 4120

E: Darren.J.Wells@uk.gt.com

Emily McKeow n

Engagement Manager

T: 020 7728 3091

E: emily .mckeown@uk.gt.com

Tosin Orekoya

Audit In-charge

T: 020 7865 2522

E: tosin.o.Orekoya@uk.gt.com

P
age 10



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | August 2018 3

Executive Summary

Purpose

Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key f indings arising from the w ork 

w e have carried out at Gravesham Borough Council  (the Council) for the year ended 

31 March 2018.

This Letter provides a commentary on the results of our w ork to the Council and its 

external stakeholders, and highlights issues w e w ish to draw  to the attention of the 

public.  In preparing this letter, w e have follow ed the National Audit Office (NAO)'s 

Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and  Auditor Guidance Note (AGN) 07 – 'Auditor 

Reporting'.

We reported the detailed f indings from our audit w ork to the Council’s Finance and 

Audit Committee (as those charged w ith governance) in our Audit Findings Report on 

24 July 2018. 

Respective responsibilities

We have carried out our audit in accordance w ith the NAO's Code of Audit Practice, w hich 

reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act). Our key 

responsibilities are to:

• give an opinion on the Council’s f inancial statements (section tw o);

• assess the Council's arrangements for securing economy, eff iciency and effectiveness in its 

use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section three).

In our audit of the Council’s f inancial statements, w e comply w ith International Standards on 

Auditing (UK) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the NAO.

Materiality We determined materiality to be £1.705m w hich equates to 2% of gross expenditure for the year. We are required to report uncorrected 

omissions or misstatements other than those w hich are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged w ith governance. Clearly trivial w as set at £85k. 

Financial Statements opinion We gave an unqualif ied opinion on the council's f inancial statements on 27th July 2018. 

Use of statutory powers We also have additional pow ers and duties under the Act, including pow ers to issue a public interest report, make w ritten rec ommendations, 

apply to the Court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law , and to give electors the opportunity to raise questions about the 

Council’s accounts and to raise objections received in relation to the accounts. None of these pow ers have been exercised. 

Our work

P
age 11



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | August 2018 4

Executive Summary

Working with the Council

• An eff icient audit – w e delivered an eff icient audit w ith you in June and July, delivering the audit opinion 4 days before the deadline, releasing your f inance team for other w ork.

• Sharing our insight – w e provided regular audit committee updates covering best practice. We also shared our thought leadership reports.

We w ould like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

August 2018

Value for Money arrangements We w ere satisfied that the Council put in place proper arrangements to ensure economy, eff iciency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

We reflected this in our audit report to the Council on 27th July 2018.

Certification of Grants We also carry out w ork to certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim on behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions. Our w ork on 

this claim is not yet complete and w ill be f inalised by 30 November 2018. We w ill report the results of this w ork to the Finance and Audit 

Committee in our Annual Certif ication Letter.

Certificate We certify that w e have completed the audit of the accounts of Gravesham Borough Council  in accordance w ith the requirements of the Code 

of Audit Practice.

P
age 12



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | August 2018 5

Audit of the Accounts

Our audit approach

Materiality

In our audit of the Council's accounts, w e applied the concept of materiality to 

determine the nature, timing and extent of our w ork, and to evaluate the results of our 

w ork. We define materiality as the size of the misstatement in the f inancial 

statements that w ould lead a reasonably know ledgeable person to change or 

influence their economic decisions. 

We determined materiality for our audit of the Council's accounts to be £1.705million, 

w hich is 2% of the Council's gross revenue expenditure. We used this benchmark, as 

in our view , users of the Council's accounts are most interested in how  it has spent 

the income it has raised from taxation and grants during the year. 

We set a low er threshold of £85,000, above w hich w e reported errors to the Finance 

and Audit Committee in our Audit Findings Report.

The scope of our audit

Our audit involves obtaining enough evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

f inancial statements to give reasonable assurance they are free from material misstatement, 

w hether caused by fraud or error. This includes assessing w hether: 

• the Council's accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently applied and 

adequately disclosed; 

• signif icant accounting estimates made by management are reasonable; and

• the overall presentation of the f inancial statements gives a true and fair view .

We also read the narrative report and annual governance statement to check they are 

consistent w ith our understanding of the Council and w ith the accounts included in the 

Statement of Accounts on w hich w e gave our opinion.

We carry out our audit in line w ith ISAs (UK and Ireland) and the NAO Code of Audit Practice. 

We believe the audit evidence w e have obtained is suff icient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.

Our audit approach w as based on a thorough understanding of the Council's business and is 

risk based. 

We identif ied key risks and set out overleaf the w ork w e performed in response to these risks 

and the results of this w ork.

P
age 13



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | August 2018 6

Audit of the Accounts

Significant Audit Risks
These are the signif icant risks w hich had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and w here w e focused more of our w ork. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Improper revenue recognition

Under ISA 240 (UK) there is a presumed risk that 

revenue may be misstated due to the improper 

recognition of revenue.

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor 

concludes that there is no risk of material 

misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue 

recognition.

Auditor commentary

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature

of the revenue streams at the Council, w e have determined that the 

risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, 

because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition;

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited;

• The culture and ethical framew orks of local authorities, including 

Gravesham Council, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as 

unacceptable.

Therefore w e did not consider this to be a signif icant risk for 

Gravesham Borough Council.

Findings

Our audit w ork did not identify any issues in respect of 

improper revenue recognition. 

Management override of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable 

presumed risk that the risk of management over-

ride of controls is present in all entities. 

We identif ied management override of controls as a 

risk requiring special audit consideration.

• Our audit w ork included, but w as not restricted to:

 gaining an understanding of the accounting estimates, 

judgements applied and decisions made by management 

and considered their reasonableness;

 obtaining a full listing of journal entries, identifying and 

testing unusual journal entries for appropriateness; and

 evaluating the rationale for any changes in accounting 

policies or signif icant unusual transactions.

Findings

Our audit w ork did not identify any issues in respect of 

management override of controls. 

P
age 14



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | August 2018 7

Audit of the Accounts

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Valuation of property, plant and equipment

The Council revalues its land and buildings on an 

quinquennial basis to ensure that carrying value is 

not materially different from current or fair value. 

This represents a signif icant estimate by 

management in the f inancial statements.

We identif ied the valuation of land and buildings 

revaluations and impairments as a risk requiring 

special audit consideration.

We have: 

 Review ed management's processes and assumptions for the calculation 

of the estimate, the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope 

of their w ork;

 Considered the competence, expertise and objectivity of any 

management experts used;

 Discussed w ith the valuer the basis on w hich the valuation is carried out 

and challenged the key assumptions;

 Review ed and challenged the information used by the valuer to ensure it 

is robust and consistent w ith our understanding;

 Tested revaluations made during the year to ensure they are input 

correctly into the Council's asset register;

 Evaluated the assumptions made by management for those assets not 

revalued during the year and how  management has satisfied themselves 

that these are not materially different to current value.

Our audit w ork did not identify any material 

issues in respect of the valuation of property, 

plant and equipment. 

Valuation of pension fund net liability

The Council's pension fund asset and liability as 

reflected in its balance sheet represent  a 

signif icant estimate in the f inancial statements.

We identif ied the valuation of the pension fund net 

liability as a risk requiring special audit 

consideration

We have: 

 Identif ied the controls put in place by management to ensure that the 

pension fund liability is not materially misstated. We have assessed 

w hether these controls w ere implemented as expected and w hether they 

are suff icient to mitigate the risk of material misstatement

 Evaluated the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary w ho 

carried out your pension fund valuation. We have gained an 

understanding of the basis on w hich the valuation is carried out

 Undertaken procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial 

assumptions made.

 Checked the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and 

disclosures in notes to the f inancial statements w ith the actuarial report 

from your actuary

Our audit w ork did not identify any issues in 

respect of the valuation of pension fund net 

liability.

P
age 15



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | August 2018 8

Audit of the Accounts

Audit opinion

We gave an unqualif ied opinion on the Council's accounts on 27 July 2018, in 

advance of the 31 July 2018 national deadline.

Preparation of the accounts

The Council presented us w ith draft accounts in accordance w ith the national 

deadline, and provided a good set of w orking papers to support them. The finance 

team responded promptly and eff iciently to our queries during the course of the audit.

Issues arising from the audit of the accounts

We reported the key issues from our audit of the accounts of the Council to the 

Council's Finance and Audit Committee on 24 July 2018. 

We did not identify any adjustments affecting the Council’s f inancial position. We 

identif ied a few  presentation and disclosure issues that w ere amended for in the 

Council’s f inal f inancial accounts.

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report

We are required to review  the Council's Annual Governance Statement and Narrative 

Report. It published them on its w ebsite w ith the draft accounts in line w ith the 

national deadlines. 

Both documents w ere prepared in line w ith the relevant guidance and w ere 

consistent w ith  the supporting evidence provided by the Council and w ith our 

know ledge of the Council.

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) 

We carried out w ork on the Council’s Data Collection Tool in line w ith instructions provided by 

the NAO. We issued an assurance statement w hich confirmed the Council w as below  the audit 

threshold.

Other statutory powers 
We also have additional pow ers and duties under the Act, including pow ers to issue a public 

interest report, make w ritten recommendations, apply to the Court for a declaration that an item 

of account is contrary to law , and to give electors the opportunity to raise questions about the 

Council’s accounts and to raise objections received in relation to the accounts. 

We have not had to undertake any w ork in this area.  

Certificate of closure of the audit

We have certif ied the closure of the 2017-18 audit. 

P
age 16



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | August 2018 9

Value for Money conclusion

Background
We carried out our review  in accordance w ith the NAO Code of Audit Practice, follow ing the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2017 w hich specif ied the criterion for auditors to 

evaluate:

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

Overall Value for Money conclusion
We are satisf ied that in all signif icant respects the Council put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, eff iciency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 

March 2018.

Risk assessment 

We carried out an initial risk assessment in February 2018 and did not identify any signif icant risks in respect of specif ic areas of proper arrangements using the guidance contained in 

AGN03. We communicated these risks to you in our Audit Plan dated February 2018. 

We have continued our review  of relevant documents up to the date of giving our report. 

On the 27 March, Senior off icers made us aw are of a potential development proposal  being considered by the Council. The proposal involves St George’s Shopping Centre, Western 

Quarter and Eastern Quarter. In respect of the St George’s Shopping Centre, the Council w ould retain the freehold of the development site and grant a long term lease (50 years) to the 

developer. Proposals for the development of Eastern Quarter and Western Quarter are still being considered. Given the long term nature of the proposal and our lack of understanding of 

the Council’s arrangements, w e undertook some w ork to understand the proposals.

Key Considerations

AGN 03 requires us to disclose our view s on signif icant qualitative aspects of your arrangements for delivering economy, eff iciency and effectiveness. In arriving at our conclusion, our 

main considerations w ere:

• Over recent years the Council has managed its f inances w ell developing a 10 year medium term financial plan to help identify and mitigate threats to its f inancial health. To address 

shortfalls in funding the Council has been undertaking a Bridging the Gap programme formed of service review s of all its serv ices, combined w ith other initiatives such as a property 

acquisition strategy, shared services, budget challenge and fees and charges review . The Council has set a balanced budget for 2018/19, having reflected £1.9million of activity to 

address the budget gap identif ied in the Medium Term Financial Strategy prepared in 2016. The Council’s medium term financial plan has identif ied that further activity totalling 

£2million is required by 2020/21, w ith £1million to be delivered from furtherance of the Bridging the Gap programme. The Council w ill be seeking to identify w ays to deliver the 

residual £1m during 2018/19. 

• The Council w orks appropriately w ith partners and its strategic plans clearly identif ies commitment to supporting these partnerships.

• The framew ork of governance arrangements continues to operate w ith the corporate risk register updated and considered appropriately. The Council’s strategic and operational 

planning framew ork has arrangements directly linked to address the key risks from this register.

P
age 17



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | August 2018 10

A. Reports issued and fees

We confirm below  our f inal reports issued and fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services. 

Fees

Planned

£

Actual fees 

£

2016/17 fees

£

Statutory Council audit £53,294 £53,294 £53,294

Housing Benefit Grant Certif ication £14,526 TBC £14,526

Total fees £67,820 TBC £67,820

The planned fees for the year w ere in line w ith the scale fee set by Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Ltd (PSAA) 

Reports issued

Report Date issued

Audit Plan 13 March 2018

Audit Findings Report 24 July 2018

Annual Audit Letter 17 August 2018

Fees for non-audit services

Service Fees £

Audit related services 

- Pooling Capital Receipts Grant

£1,500

Non- audit services

• For the purposes of our audit w e have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton 

UK LLP teams providing services to the Council. The table above 

summarises all non-audit services w hich w ere identif ied.

• We have considered w hether non-audit services might be perceived as a 

threat to our independence as the Council’s auditor and have ensured that 

appropriate safeguards are put in place. 

The above non-audit services are consistent w ith the Council’s policy on the 

allotment of non-audit w ork to your auditor. 

P
age 18



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | August 2018

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee 

Date: 11 September 2018

Reporting officer: Service Manager, Customer & Theatre Services

Subject: Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual 
Review Letter 2017-18

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Management Team with a copy of the Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter for Gravesham.

Recommendations:
This report is for information and to support transparency and learning from complaints.

1. Background

1.1 The Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman (LG&SCO) publish an annual review 
letter for each authority, summarising the complaints and enquiries they have dealt with 
over the past year, along with the action taken i.e. whether the complaint was 
investigated. Gravesham Borough Council’s annual letter is attached as Appendix II.

2. Year End Findings for Gravesham Borough Council

2.1 For the year ending 31 March 2018, the LG&SCO received a total of 19 complaints and 
enquiries about Gravesham Borough Council services. This was slightly higher than the 
previous year (17) with the majority of complaints relating to Council Housing  
(homelessness, housing allocations, housing benefit, improvement services) (10), 
followed by Benefits & Tax (3), Environmental & Public Protection (3) and Planning & 
Development (2) (Appendix III).

2.2 Of the 19 complaints and enquiries, 8 were referred back to the Council for local 
resolution, 4 were closed after initial enquiries with the Council, advice was given to 4 
complainants and 1 complaint was invalid (Appendix IV).

2.3 An investigation was completed in relation to a Housing complaint which was 
subsequently upheld. An apology and financial redress was awarded.  A copy of the 
decision report is attached as Appendix V.

3. LG&SCO Review of Local Government Complaints report 

3.1 To support Annual Review Letters, the LG&SCO publishes their own review of 
complaints, setting out the national picture on the complaints they handle, the main 
casework themes and data tables to compare and contrast against other authorities.  A 
copy of the report is attached as Appendix VI https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-
centre/news/2018/jul/a-tool-for-change-ombudsman-issues-annual-review-of-council-
complaints

3.2 In addition to this review report, the LG&SCO has created a dedicated section of their 
website to help Councillors and Scrutiny Committees ensure there is appropriate 

Page 21 Agenda Item 7

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/jul/a-tool-for-change-ombudsman-issues-annual-review-of-council-complaints
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/jul/a-tool-for-change-ombudsman-issues-annual-review-of-council-complaints
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/jul/a-tool-for-change-ombudsman-issues-annual-review-of-council-complaints


challenge, transparency and learning from complaints. The link for this section is: 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/for-advisors/scrutiny

4. Recommendations

4.1 There are no recommendations. This report is for information.

5. Background papers

5.1 Links to information referenced above are available in this report. Further information is 
available on the LG&SCO website at www.lgo.org.uk

Page 22

https://www.lgo.org.uk/for-advisors/scrutiny
http://www.lgo.org.uk/


IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             APPENDIX 1

Legal The Local Government Act 1974 (the '1974 Act') established the, then, Local 
Government Ombudsman for England and for Wales and defines the main statutory 
functions as follows:

 to investigate complaints against councils and some other authorities
 to investigate complaints about adult social care providers from people who 

arrange or fund their adult social care (Health Act 2009)
 to provide advice and guidance on good administrative practice

The main activity under Part III of the 1974 Act is the investigation of complaints, 
which the Act states is limited to complaints from members of the public alleging 
they have suffered injustice as a result of maladministration and/or service failure. 

Under Part IIIA the Ombudsman investigates complaints from people who allege 
they have suffered injustice as a result of action by adult social care providers. The 
Ombudsmen's jurisdiction under Part III covers all local authorities (excluding town 
and parish councils); police and crime bodies; school admission appeal panels and 
a range of other bodies providing local services. 

The Local Government Ombudsman changed its name to Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman (LG&SCO) in 2017 to reflect the full scope of jurisdiction.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

The LG&SCO annual report summarises the complaints it has investigated in 
relation to Gravesham Borough Council in the previous financial year. Good 
complaint handling ensures instances of service failures or injustice are limited and 
that improvements to services can be identified at the earliest opportunity.

Risk 
Assessment

This report is for information only.

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

Screening for Equality Impacts

Question Answer Explanation

a. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended 
through this paper 
have potential to 
cause adverse impact 
or discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community?

No This report is not 
proposing decisions or 
changes to services. It 
provides information about 
the LG&SCO complaint 
handling. 

b. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended 
through this paper 
make a positive 
contribution to 
promoting equality?

No As above, the report is 
not proposing decisions 
or changes to service.

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 

N/A N/A

Page 23



identified above?

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming they have given 
due regard to equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted in the 
table above

Corporate 
Business 
Plan

Corporate Plan Objective 4 – Sound & self-sufficient council

Crime and 
Disorder

Good complaint handling can help to identify issues that may link, for example, anti-
social behaviour. Effective management of complaints can therefore lead to a 
reduction in such instances or appropriate action being taken to address them.

Page 24



18 July 2018

By email

David Hughes
Chief Executive
Gravesham Borough Council

Dear David Hughes,

Annual Review letter 2018

I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the complaints made to the
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) about your authority for the year
ended 31 March 2018. The enclosed tables present the number of complaints and enquiries
received about your authority and the decisions we made during the period. I hope this
information will prove helpful in assessing your authority’s performance in handling
complaints.

Complaint statistics
In providing these statistics, I would stress that the volume of complaints does not, in itself,
indicate the quality of the council’s performance. High volumes of complaints can be a sign
of an open, learning organisation, as well as sometimes being an early warning of wider
problems. Low complaint volumes can be a worrying sign that an organisation is not alive to
user feedback, rather than always being an indicator that all is well. So, I would encourage
you to use these figures as the start of a conversation, rather than an absolute measure of
corporate health. One of the most significant statistics attached is the number of upheld
complaints. This shows how frequently we find fault with the council when we investigate.
Equally importantly, we also give a figure for the number of cases where we decided your
authority had offered a satisfactory remedy during the local complaints process. Both figures
provide important insights.

I want to emphasise the statistics in this letter reflect the data we hold, and may not
necessarily align with the data your authority holds. For example, our numbers include
enquiries from people we signpost back to the authority, some of whom may never contact
you.

In line with usual practice, we are publishing our annual data for all authorities on our
website, alongside an annual review of local government complaints. The aim of this is to be
transparent and provide information that aids the scrutiny of local services.

Page 25



Future development of annual review letters
Last year, we highlighted our plans to move away from a simplistic focus on complaint
volumes and instead turn focus onto the lessons that can be learned and the wider
improvements we can achieve through our recommendations to improve services for the
many. We have produced a new corporate strategy for 2018-21 which commits us to more
comprehensibly publish information about the outcomes of our investigations and the
occasions our recommendations result in improvements to local services.

We will be providing this broader range of data for the first time in next year’s letters, as well as
creating an interactive map of local authority performance on our website. We believe this
will lead to improved transparency of our work, as well as providing increased recognition to
the improvements councils have agreed to make following our interventions. We will
therefore be seeking views from councils on the future format of our annual letters early next
year.

Supporting local scrutiny
One of the purposes of our annual letters to councils is to help ensure learning from
complaints informs scrutiny at the local level. Sharing the learning from our investigations
and supporting the democratic scrutiny of public services continues to be one of our key
priorities. We have created a dedicated section of our website which contains a host of
information to help scrutiny committees and councillors to hold their authority to account –
complaints data, decision statements, public interest reports, focus reports and scrutiny
questions. This can be found at www.lgo.org.uk/scrutiny I would be grateful if you could
encourage your elected members and scrutiny committees to make use of these resources.

Learning from complaints to improve services
We share the issues we see in our investigations to help councils learn from the issues
others have experienced and avoid making the same mistakes. We do this through the
reports and other resources we publish. Over the last year, we have seen examples of
councils adopting a positive attitude towards complaints and working constructively with us
to remedy injustices and take on board the learning from our cases. In one great example, a
county council has seized the opportunity to entirely redesign how its occupational therapists
work with all of it districts, to improve partnership working and increase transparency for the
public. This originated from a single complaint. This is the sort of culture we all benefit from –
one that takes the learning from complaints and uses it to improve services.

Complaint handling training
We have a well-established and successful training programme supporting local authorities
and independent care providers to help improve local complaint handling. In 2017-18 we
delivered 58 courses, training more than 800 people. We also set up a network of council
link officers to promote and share best practice in complaint handling, and hosted a series of
seminars for that group. To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training.

Yours sincerely,

Michael King

Local Government and Social Ombudsman

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

Page 26



Local Authority Report: Gravesham Borough Council
For the Period Ending: 31/03/2018

For further information on how to interpret our statistics, please visit our website:
http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics

Complaints and enquiries received

Adult Care
Services

Benefits and
Tax

Corporate
and Other
Services

Education
and

Children’s
Services

Environment
Services

Highways
and

Transport
Housing

Planning and
Development

Other Total

0 3 0 0 3 0 10 2 1 19

Decisions made Detailed Investigations

Incomplete or
Invalid

Advice Given

Referred
back for

Local
Resolution

Closed After
Initial

Enquiries
Not Upheld Upheld Uphold Rate Total

1 4 8 4 0 1 100% 18

Notes Complaints Remedied

Our uphold rate is calculated in relation to the total number of detailed investigations.

The number of remedied complaints may not equal the number of upheld complaints.
This is because, while we may uphold a complaint because we find fault, we may not
always find grounds to say that fault caused injustice that ought to be remedied.

by LGO
Satisfactorily by

Authority before LGO
Involvement

1 0

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Reference Authority Category Received
16019224 Gravesham Borough Council Benefits & Tax 26/04/2017
17010349 Gravesham Borough Council Benefits & Tax 25/09/2017
17011745 Gravesham Borough Council Benefits & Tax 18/10/2017
17003196 Gravesham Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 13/06/2017
17013789 Gravesham Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 24/11/2017
17016453 Gravesham Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 19/01/2018
16019204 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 26/04/2017
17000915 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 19/04/2017
17002373 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 15/05/2017
17004657 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 22/06/2017
17007880 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 25/08/2017
17008758 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 29/08/2017
17011727 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 18/10/2017
17014862 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 14/12/2017
17015564 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 08/01/2018
17018239 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 23/02/2018
17002919 Gravesham Borough Council Null 23/05/2017
17010974 Gravesham Borough Council Planning & Development 05/10/2017
17019960 Gravesham Borough Council Planning & Development 22/03/2018

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Reference Authority Category Decided Decision Remedy
17007880 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 19/09/2017 Advice given Null
17011745 Gravesham Borough Council Benefits & Tax 19/12/2017 Advice given Null
17015564 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 08/01/2018 Advice given Null
17018239 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 23/02/2018 Advice given Null
16019204 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 19/05/2017 Closed after initial enquiries Null
16019224 Gravesham Borough Council Benefits & Tax 22/05/2017 Closed after initial enquiries Null

17003196 Gravesham Borough Council

Environmental Services &
Public Protection &
Regulation 24/07/2017 Closed after initial enquiries Null

17010349 Gravesham Borough Council Benefits & Tax 02/11/2017 Closed after initial enquiries Null
17002919 Gravesham Borough Council Null 23/05/2017 Incomplete/Invalid Null
17000915 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 19/04/2017 Referred back for local resolution Null
17004657 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 22/06/2017 Referred back for local resolution Null
17008758 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 21/09/2017 Referred back for local resolution Null

17010974 Gravesham Borough Council Planning & Development 02/11/2017 Referred back for local resolution Null
17011727 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 18/10/2017 Referred back for local resolution Null

17013789 Gravesham Borough Council

Environmental Services &
Public Protection &
Regulation 24/11/2017 Referred back for local resolution Null

17014862 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 14/12/2017 Referred back for local resolution Null

17016453 Gravesham Borough Council

Environmental Services &
Public Protection &
Regulation 19/01/2018 Referred back for local resolution Null

17002373 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 22/11/2017 Upheld

Apology,Financial redress:
Avoidable distress/time and
trouble,New appeal/review or
reconsidered decision,Procedure
or policy change/review

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

22 November 2017

Complaint reference: 
17 002 373

Complaint against:
Gravesham Borough Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision
Summary: The Council had not properly considered the information 
provided by Mrs X in support of her application for medical priority for 
housing. It is also at fault for failing to deal with a request for a review 
of its decision and a complaint. The Council will apologise to Mrs X 
and has now properly considered all the information. It will also pay 
her £350 for the delay in getting to this point and her time and trouble.

The complaint
1. The complainant, whom I will refer to as Mrs X, complains the Council has not 

given any medical priority to her housing application. In particular she says it has 
not properly considered the information she provided and has not responded to 
her review requests or complaints.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers
2. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this 

statement, I have used the word fault to refer to these. We must also consider 
whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making the 
complaint. I refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused an 
injustice, we may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 26A(1), 
as amended)

3. We cannot question whether a council’s decision is right or wrong simply because 
the complainant disagrees with it. We must consider whether there was fault in 
the way the decision was reached. (Local Government Act 1974, section 34(3), as amended)

4. If we are satisfied with a council’s actions or proposed actions, we can complete 
our investigation and issue a decision statement. (Local Government Act 1974, section 
30(1B) and 34H(i), as amended)

How I considered this complaint
5. I considered the information provided by Mrs X and discussed the complaint with 

her. I asked the Council for information and comments and considered what it 
provided.

6. Mrs X and the Council had the opportunity to comment on a draft version of my 
decision before I made a final decision.

Page 33



    

Final decision 2

What I found
The Council’s policy

7. If someone applies for housing because their current home affects the illness or 
disability of a member of the household, the Council expects the applicant to 
provide evidence of this from a health professional. The Council can also seek 
advice from an independent medical advisor (IMA).

8. The Council considers if the applicant’s current housing adversely affects a 
household members health. If it does it can place the applicant in a higher priority 
band. The Council had four medical bands, from A, high medical need to D, no 
medical need. The Council will write to the applicant with, among other 
information, the priority band it has awarded and reasons for it. The policy says if 
the applicant thinks this is inaccurate they can: “request a review of their priority 
from the Senior Allocations Officer at any time”.

9. The policy also says an applicant can ask for a review of the priority band given 
by the Council within 21 days of receiving the decision. The reviewing officer can 
ask the applicant for more information in writing, orally or through a 
representative. The Council should carry out the review in 56 days.

10. If an applicant or household member has a substantial and permanent physical 
disability the Council may ask an Occupational Therapist for a housing needs 
report.

What happened
11. Mrs X lives with her husband and daughter (Y) in a second-floor social rented flat. 

In April 2016 she applied to the Council for rehousing because of medical need. 
Mrs X has fibromyalgia and receives a personal independence payment. Y has 
asperger’s syndrome, learning difficulties and high frequency hearing loss. Y 
receives disability living allowance with the high rate of care.

12. Mrs X provided a housing needs assessment from a County Council Occupational 
Therapist. This said Mrs X has problems with the two flights of stairs to her flat. It 
recommended a maximum of one flight of stairs with two handrails. Mrs X also 
provided information from Y’s school and support programme about her mental 
health problems and self-harming.

13. The Council asked its independent medical advisor (IMA) for an opinion. The IMA 
considered the occupational therapist’s report. The IMA said:

“The issue is the suitability of the current accommodation which is a second floor 
flat without lift access.  It is contended that this accommodation is unsuitable as 
the applicant is having difficulty negotiating the stairs.  It does not appear that her 
mobility on the stairs has been assessed.  The only comment that the 
occupational therapist has made is that she has slow mobility and she is worried 
that her knee could give way so she feels unsafe.”

14. The IMA said Mrs X had no medical priority but would review this if he received a 
full orthopaedic assessment.

15. On 4 May 2016 the Council placed Mrs X application in band D; no medical 
priority. It sent Mrs X a standard letter to say the IMA had advised that medical 
priority should not be awarded. Its letter did not tell Mrs X of any review rights but 
said it would reassess if Mrs X provided more information.

16. In May 2016 Mrs X’s MP wrote to the Council on her behalf. In July the hospital 
confirmed a diagnosis of fibromyalgia for Mrs X and she sent this to the Council. 

Page 34



    

Final decision 3

17. On 20 September 2016 Mrs X sent an email to the Council. She said she had 
tried to find somewhere on the Council’s website to put in an appeal but could not. 
She said she was waiting for an occupational therapy assessment for Y.  She 
asked for a meeting with an officer so she could provide supporting evidence. She 
said if the Council wanted more information it was welcome to contact her. Mrs 
X’s MP also asked for an update.

18. On 7 October the Council told Mrs X it would reply to her appeal by 21 October. 
On 1 November a Manager wrote to Mrs X. The letter said the Council’s IMA had 
reviewed the medical information Mrs X provided and awarded no priority. It said 
having considered facts, law, guidance and policy the band it had given was 
reasonable and lawful and in accordance with the policy. It said Mrs X could not 
ask for another review but if she had medical information she had not yet 
provided the Council may carry out a further assessment.

19. The Council has clarified that it did not ask the IMA to review his decision in 
October 2016. It says this is because Mrs X had provided no new information.

20. In January 2017 Mrs X asked for a new medical assessment for herself and Y. 
She provided:

• A letter from Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services (CAMHS). 
This said the Service was concerned about the negative impact of Y’s current 
housing on her mental well-being. 

• A letter from a supporting living project saying the anxiety Y had when using 
communal areas. That Y no longer used her television because she was 
frightened when people banged on the door when she had it on loud due to her 
hearing problems. The pain Mrs X experienced using the stairs because of 
fibromyalgia. The help Mrs Y needed with personal care and the adaptations to 
the flat. 

• An occupational therapy assessment for Y from the County Council’s disabled 
children’s team and a letter of support from it. The letter of support said the 
closeness of the home to the town centre and roads, noise levels and 
problems with neighbours have a detrimental effect on Y’s mental health and 
well-being. It said Y would benefit from a location away from a busy road and 
town centre, a secure entrance for the household only and a kitchen separate 
from the lounge.

21. The Council asked the IMA for an opinion. The IMA’s report says he considered 
the above documents and the letter from the hospital Mrs X supplied in July 2016. 
The IMA says for his January 2017 assessment he only had the occupational 
therapy report for Y. He says he destroys all confidential medical information after 
three months.

22. The IMA noted Y has autism spectrum disorder and Mrs X fibromyalgia and there 
were no other relevant medical issues. He decided:

“The issue is the suitability of the current accommodation which is a flat accessed 
via three flights of stairs.  It is contended that this accommodation is unsuitable as 
the applicant is having difficulty negotiating the stairs.  No objective assessment 
of the applicant’s level of disability has been provided.”

“The accommodation is secondly contended as unsuitable as there is a 
communal walkway and some of the neighbours smoke cannabis.  Antisocial 
behaviour by neighbours is not a medical issue and should be directed to the 
appropriate authorities.”

Page 35



    

Final decision 4

“The accommodation is lastly contended as unsuitable as Y needs the television 
volume to be put louder because of hearing loss.  I would have thought that this 
would be better treated by a hearing aid.”

23. The IMA decided the family had no medical priority. He said he would review this 
if Mrs X provided an orthopaedic report or Occupational Therapy housing needs 
assessment. The Council sent Mrs X the same standard letter if had sent her in 
May 2016.

24. Mrs X says she also provided a letter from the paediatric audiology department 
describing Y’s hearing loss and treatment which did not include a hearing aid. 
She says she also provided information from the school about Y’s mental state. 
She says she also provided a letter of support from a charity supporting disabled 
children, which describes the effect of the current accommodation on Y and that 
she was now too frightened to go out. Mrs X has provided copies of these 
documents to us.

25. The Council says it received information from the school about a referral to 
CAMHS but it has not received any information from CAMHS. It confirms it 
received the letter from the charity.

26. In February 2017 Mrs X complained to the Council about its decision the family 
had no medical priority. The Council said it would treat this as an appeal.

27. The Council did not respond and in June Mrs X complained to us. We referred her 
complaint to the Council to give it the opportunity to consider it before we became 
involved. The Council said she could not use the complaints procedure as she 
had a right of appeal but had not used it.

28. The Council now accepts it did not deal with the appeal made in February 2017. It 
has apologised for this. 

29. The Council reviewed the application in September 2017 and upheld its decision 
that Mrs X has no medical need. It its letter it gives a history of the application and 
the IMA’s advice in January 2017. It notes Mrs X has fibromyalgia and some 
difficulty walking and the Occupational Therapist’s recommendation. It notes Y 
has autism spectrum disorder and has challenges at school and in the home 
environment and has the support of a charity for this.  The letters then says “I am 
satisfied that the award of no priority on medical grounds is appropriate in this 
case”. 

Analysis
30. Under its policy the Council decides on medical priority. It can ask the IMA for an 

opinion but the Council makes the final decision.

31. In April 2016 Mrs X provided an Occupational Therapist’s housing need report for 
her and information about Y’s mental health problems. The Council asked the 
IMA for an opinion on the report. It is not clear why the IMA decided the 
Occupational Therapist had not given an independent view on Mrs X’s mobility on 
the stairs. It is also unclear why he did not agree with Occupational Therapist’s 
recommendation that Mrs X should have a maximum of one flight of stairs.

32. The Council rejected the application based solely on the IMA’s view. I have seen 
no evidence the Council considered the information about Y. I have seen nothing 
to suggest the Council considered if it should award any priority given the 
Occupational Therapist’s recommendation.

Page 36



    

Final decision 5

33. In September 2016 Mrs X asked to meet an officer to provide information as she 
could not find a way of doing this via the website. The Council did not arrange to 
meet her or ask Mrs X to provide the information she said she had. When it sent 
its response In November 2016 the Council said the IMA had reviewed her 
information. This was misleading as the Council had not asked the IMA to review 
the case. What it meant was the IMA had assessed the information in April 2016. 
It says it did not ask the IMA to review as Mrs X had not provided any new 
information. Mrs X had offered new information but the Council had not 
responded to her about this.

34. The Council then told Mrs X to provide any new information she had. Mrs X did 
this and the Council asked the IMA for a new assessment. However, the IMA had 
destroyed the information from April 2016 and the Council only asked for new 
information. The IMA now had a diagnosis of fibromyalgia for Mrs X but not the 
Occupational Therapy report for her.

35. There is nothing in the IMA’s report to say what account he took of the information 
provided, including from CAMHS, about the effect the current property has on Y’s 
mental health and well-being.  For the television volume, he suggests a hearing 
aid for Y when her audiologist had not recommended this. The only mention he 
makes of the other problems Y faces is that some residents smoke cannabis in 
communal areas. He suggested Mrs X could get an orthopaedic report. 
Fibromyalgia is not an orthopaedic condition so Mrs X could only get a report that 
she did not have an orthopaedic condition.

36. From the evidence I cannot see the IMA properly considered all the information. I 
cannot know why he did not find the information provided evidence of a medical 
need. He gives no reasons why he does not agree with the Occupational 
Therapist’s housing recommendations for Y. 

37. However, the IMA’s view is an opinion. The decision on medical need is for the 
Council. I have seen no evidence the Council considered medical need itself, 
instead it relied on the view of the IMA. I have seen no evidence it considered the 
information. It says Mrs X did not provide information from CAMHS when she did.

38. The Council did not deal with Mrs X’s request for a review of this decision. It told 
her she could not make a complaint because she had not used the right of 
appeal. The Council is at fault for this.

39. Following her complaint to us, the Council has now responded to Mrs X review 
request. In its response it recognises Mrs X has difficulty walking and the 
Occupational Therapist recommendations. It recognises Y has autism spectrum 
disorder and challenges in the home environment. It does not say why it does not 
consider this information means Mrs X’s application should have a medical 
priority. It does not mention the Occupational Therapist’s recommendations for Y 
or what CAMHS and others have said about her mental health.

40. For the above reasons I find the Council is at fault as it has not properly 
considered Mrs X’s application for medical priority.

41. I have to consider what injustice this has caused. The Ombudsman cannot say if 
Mrs X’s housing application should have medical priority. This is a decision for the 
Council. The injustice the Council has caused Mrs X is delay in carrying out a full 
evaluation of the medical and other information. It also caused Mrs X injustice in 
terms of time, trouble and frustration.

Page 37



    

Final decision 6

42. I have also found a contradiction in the Council’s allocation policy. It says an 
applicant can ask for a review of a banding decision at any time. However it also 
says an applicant has to ask for this within 21 days.

Agreed action
43. To put matters right for Mrs X the Council has:

• Apologised to Mrs X;

• Agreed within one month it will pay Mrs X £350 for the delay and the 
unnecessary time and trouble it put her to;

• A senior housing manager has reconsidered all the information the Council has 
on Mrs X and Y. The Council has given the application Band B medical priority. 
Because of the delays the Council has agreed Mrs X’s Band B will start from 
the date it registered for application instead of the date it gave the Band B.

• The Council will within one month clarify the review rights in its allocations 
policy.

Final decision
44. The Council is at fault as it has not properly considered Mrs X’s application for 

medical priority. This has caused delay in dealing with the application. The 
Council is also at fault as it did not deal with Mrs X’s review request or complaint. 
The Council has agreed to take actions that provide a suitable remedy for the 
complaint. I have completed my investigation and closed the complaint.

Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman 

Page 38



Review 
of local 
government 
complaints 
2017-18

Page 39



Page 40



Contents

Ombudsman’s foreword 1
Key complaint themes 3
Public interest reports 4
Landmark cases 6
Compliance with recommendations 7
Using the statistics 8

• How to view complaints statistics
• Data tables and annual letters
• Questions for scrutiny

Statistics 10
• Complaints and enquiries registered
• Decisions made and investigations completed
• Investigation uphold rates
• Recommendations

Future reporting on remedies 14

Page 41



1

Ombudsman’s foreword

I am pleased to present our Review of Local 
Government Complaints for 2017-18. 

Each year I write to local authorities to feedback 
statistics from the complaints made to us, and 
comment on their performance in responding to 
investigations. This report gives a national picture 
of these complaints, summarises the main 
casework themes we have seen and provides 
links to our published data tables. Many councils 
use the data tables to compare and contrast 
against other authorities, and they are open to 
anybody with an interest in public services to 
scrutinise. 

The headlines from our complaint statistics in 
2017-18 are: 

 > We registered 17,452 complaints and 
enquiries, compared to 16,863 2016-17

 > We carried out 4,020 detailed investigations in 
2017-18, compared with 4,279 in 2016-17

 > Of those detailed investigations, we upheld 
57%, which is up from 54% in 2016-17

 > We made 3,622 recommendations to put 
things right, compared to 3,574 in 2016-17. 
These included 644 recommendations to 
improve services for the wider public

 > The area in which we upheld the highest 
proportion of investigations was Benefits 
and Tax (70%). The lowest proportion was 
Planning and Development (41%)

When looking at complaint numbers, I want to 
stress that it should only form the start of the 
conversation about measuring corporate health – 
low and high volumes do not solely indicate good 
and bad performance.

The wider outcomes from our investigations are 
more important than complaint volumes. The 
responses to our annual survey of councils show 
that there has been a steady shift over the last 
three years in the belief that our investigations 
have a positive impact on improving local 
services.

One of the most important ways we share 
learning from complaints to encourage service 
improvement is through publishing public interest 
reports. We published 40% more public interest 
reports this year – 42 in total. We have a clear 
framework for deciding whether to publish a 
report on an individual investigation. But this 
uplift in numbers doesn’t necessarily mean 
we are seeing more systemic and significant 
injustices; it reflects our commitment to share 
the lessons from cases, as well as hold local 
authorities to account when required. We actively 
promote these public interest reports, and they 
trigger a requirement for the authority to consider 
them at full council or an alternative forum of 
elected members. 

The majority of our public interest reports were 
about three topics: adult social care; education 
and children’s services; and housing. Our 
particular concerns in these areas were taken 
forward into thematic Focus Reports, which 
collate a number of case studies combined 
with our thoughts on how to avoid the common 
pitfalls. We published four Focus Reports last 
year, which we summarise in a later section. 

Page 42



2

By and large last year, we saw councils working 
constructively to remedy injustices and take 
on board how they could prevent further 
people being affected by issues highlighted 
in investigations – sometimes at a significant 
financial cost. I commend this culture of learning 
from complaints. This report details some of 
the landmark cases we completed, where the 
outcomes extend well beyond the individual 
complainant.

On the other hand, there were some examples 
of councils not being as receptive to putting 
things right without significant pressure from my 
office. However, despite these challenges, and 
even though our recommendations are non-
binding, I am happy to say there were no formal 
incidents of non-compliance from councils to our 
recommendations last year.

Michael King

Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman

July 2018

Page 43



3

Our investigations sometimes uncover issues 
we see time and again across different councils. 
Where we have an opportunity to feed back the 
learning, we publish themed Focus Reports, 
which include good practice notes and questions 
to help councillors scrutinise their authorities. 
Last year, these were the topics we commented 
on:

The Right to Decide: towards a greater 
understanding of mental capacity and 
deprivation of liberty 

We highlighted that sometimes the proper 
checks are not happening or safeguards put in 
place when councils and care providers make 
decisions on behalf of people who lack mental 
capacity to choose how they are cared for. Our 
case studies showed how people were left in 
situations without the right consent in place and 
in one case forced to live somewhere against 
their will for a number of years. 

Lifting the Lid on Bin Complaints: learning 
to improve waste and recycling services 

We revealed the outsourcing of services was 
a common factor in the complaints we uphold 
about waste and recycling services. While many 
thousands of bins are collected successfully 
every day, we upheld 81% of the complaints 
we investigated the previous year. We called 
on councils to ensure proper oversight of their 
contractors, remembering that they remain 
responsible and accountable even if they 
outsource a service, and to appreciate the impact 
on citizens of the increasingly commercialised 
nature of waste services. 

Education, Health and Care Plans: our first 
100 investigations 

We said families of children with special 
educational needs (SEN) are sometimes facing 
a disproportionate burden to ensure they get the 

support they need. After reflecting on our first 
100 investigations about the replacement system 
for Statements of SEN, we found families were 
sometimes suffering excessive delays in getting 
the right support, with children ultimately failing 
to reach their potential. We found fault in nearly 
80% of investigations. 

Still No Place Like Home: councils’ 
continuing use of unsuitable bed and 
breakfast accommodation for families 

We showed that homelessness is increasingly 
affecting families outside of the capital, and from 
professions who previously may never expected 
to face problems finding somewhere to live. 
Worryingly, many of the problems highlighted in 
our similar report on this topic in 2013 still persist 
today. We also said there are signs the problems 
are becoming more acute, with an increase in 
the length of time families are having to stay in 
unsuitable temporary accommodation.

Key complaint themes
Page 44

https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4162/DOLS%20AND%20MCA%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4162/DOLS%20AND%20MCA%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4162/DOLS%20AND%20MCA%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4173/FOCUS%20REPORT%20-%20BINS%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4173/FOCUS%20REPORT%20-%20BINS%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4197/EHCP%20FINAL2.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4197/EHCP%20FINAL2.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4235/FINAL1.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4235/FINAL1.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4235/FINAL1.pdf


4

No reports 
published

Published reports

Northamptonshire 
County Council - 
Failure to provide 
remedy

Surrey County 
Council - Special 
Educational Needs 
(SEN)

LB Croydon - SEN

LB Redbridge - SEN

RB Greenwich - 
Fostering

LB Lewisham - SEN

Sheffield City Council 
- SEN

Warwickshire County 
Council - Fostering

Northumberland 
Council - 
Safeguarding

Essex County Council 
- SEN

Adult care  
services 

Published reports 
Worcestershire 
County Council - 
Charging

Dudley MBC - 
Charging

Lincolnshire County 
Council - Care 
planning

Nottinghamshire 
County Council - 
Residential care

LB Hackney - 
Charging

Suffolk County 
Council - Domiciliary 
care

Lancashire County 
Council - Adaptations

Lancashire County 
Council - Residential 
care

Wokingham District 
Council - Assessment

Education & 
children’s services 

Highways & 
transport 

Planning & 
development 

No reports 
published

Our decisions are published at www.lgo.org.uk/decisions and can be searched by theme, key word, 
category, decision outcome, date and organisation.

Our press releases to highlight our public interest reports can be found at www.lgo.org.uk/
information-centre/news 

Northamptonshire 
County Council - 
Assessment
Lincolnshire County 
Council - Charging
Northamptonshire 
County Council - 
Safeguarding
North Yorkshire 
County Council - 
Charging
Norfolk County 
Council - Charging
South Tyneside MBC 
- Safeguarding
North Yorkshire 
County Council - 
Charging
North Yorkshire 
County Council - 
Charging

Public interest reports
Page 45

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/school-transport/16-015-873
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/school-transport/16-015-873
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/school-transport/16-015-873
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/school-transport/16-015-873
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/looked-after-children/15-012-105
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/looked-after-children/15-012-105
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/looked-after-children/15-012-105
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/looked-after-children/15-012-105
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/transition-from-childrens-services/16-006-391
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/16-004-113
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/friends-and-family-carers/16-005-108
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/friends-and-family-carers/16-005-108
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/other/16-003-985
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/16-009-691
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/16-009-691
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/fostering/16-006-379
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/fostering/16-006-379
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/other/15-020-820
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/other/15-020-820
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/other/15-020-820
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/16-014-971
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/16-014-971
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/residential-care/16-002-395
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/residential-care/16-002-395
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/residential-care/16-002-395
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/16-002-186
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/16-002-186
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/16-007-469
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/16-007-469
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/16-007-469
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/residential-care/16-009-251
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/residential-care/16-009-251
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/residential-care/16-009-251
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/16-003-210
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/16-003-210
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/16-009-086
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/16-009-086
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/16-009-086
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/other/17-000-317
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/other/17-000-317
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/other/16-015-248
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/other/16-015-248
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/other/16-015-248
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/15-017-863
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/15-017-863
http://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/16-002-410
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/16-002-410
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/16-002-410
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/residential-care/16-003-268
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/residential-care/16-003-268
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/16-014-260
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/16-014-260
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/16-014-260
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/17-001-003
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/17-001-003
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/17-001-003
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/16-013-790
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/16-013-790
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/safeguarding/16-005-776
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/safeguarding/16-005-776
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/17-002-767
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/17-002-767
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/17-002-767
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/16-006-552
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/16-006-552
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/16-006-552


5

Published reports

Bradford MBC - 
Housing benefit

Benefits &  
tax 

Environmental, 
public protection & 

regulation 

Published reports 

LB Lambeth - 
Homelessness

Kettering 
District Council - 
Homelessness

LB Redbridge - 
Homelessness

Maidstone 
Borough Council - 
Homelessness

LB Haringey - 
Homelessness

RB Windsor and 
Maidenhead - 
Homelessness

Rother District 
Council - 
Homelessness

Housing Corporate & other 

Health 

Published reports

Isles of Scilly Council 

No reports 
published  

Published reports 

Rossendale MBC - 
Taxi licensing

Rossendale MBC - 
Taxi licensing - further 
report

Page 46

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-benefit/16-016-533
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-benefit/16-016-533
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-005-834
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-005-834
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-012-028
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-012-028
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-012-028
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-013-509
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-013-509
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-004-603
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-004-603
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-004-603
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-014-926
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-014-926
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-003-062
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-003-062
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-003-062
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-011-157
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-011-157
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/16-011-157
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/other-categories/other/15-019-440
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/licensing/15-011-613
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/licensing/15-011-613
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/mar/ombudsman-disappointed-with-rossendale-council-s-response-to-report
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/mar/ombudsman-disappointed-with-rossendale-council-s-response-to-report
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/mar/ombudsman-disappointed-with-rossendale-council-s-response-to-report


6

Landmark cases

Last year we published a number of cases that 
demonstrate the power of a single complaint 
to make a difference to many people, when 
combined with a constructive attitude by councils 
to remedy the injustice and make improvements. 
By highlighting them, we are giving all councils 
the opportunity to learn and check their own 
practice in these areas. Below are the case 
summaries, and full details can be found by 
clicking on the links, or you can search the case 
reference numbers at www.lgo.org.uk/decisions

School transport for foster children

Case reference: 16006379

Our investigation found Warwickshire County 
Council’s school transport policy required foster 
carers, whose children had to attend schools 
beyond statutory walking distance, to pay for 
school transport out of their fostering allowance. 
This is despite them being entitled to free 
school transport. This put those children at a 
disadvantage compared to their peers. We urged 
all councils to check their approach. We also 
wrote to a number of councils to highlight our 
findings, where we became aware were taking 
the same incorrect approach. Warwickshire 
changed its school transport policy to explain it 
will treat looked after children the same way as it 
treats those living with their families. 

Commissioning adult social care services

Case reference: 16007469

Our investigation found problems in 
commissioning suitable homecare provision 
meant a married couple had to spend 10 months 
apart because the woman couldn’t come home 
after a routine operation. In an effort to improve 
stability in the local market, Lincolnshire County 
Council had agreed contracts with a smaller 
number of preferred care providers, each solely 
responsible for delivering homecare services 
in their area. However, the newly contracted 

provider didn’t have capacity to provide the care 
to meet the woman’s needs. The council agreed 
to identify which other families may have suffered 
an injustice and put things right.

Restricting appeal rights for benefit 
claimants

Case reference: 16016533

After a single complaint, our investigation found 
that Bradford Metropolitan District Council 
had left more than 500 people waiting while it 
considered whether to forward their housing 
benefit appeals to the First Tier Tribunal. This left 
these people without their right to appeal, some 
dating back more than two years. The council 
agreed to clear its backlog promptly, keep us 
updated on progress, and review its procedures 
to ensure they comply with tribunal rules.

Using complaint insight to resource 
services

Case reference: 17000317

In a sad case, where a man spent the last month 
of his life in bed because of delays in providing 
him with a specialist chair, Lancashire County 
Council agreed to a number of steps improve 
services for everybody. Amongst these, was to 
look at how it resourced occupational therapy 
services, resulting in the council completing an 
action plan to fill existing vacancies and recruit a 
significant number of new therapists.

Page 47

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/fostering/16-006-379
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/16-007-469
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-benefit/16-016-533
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/other/17-000-317


7

Last year there were a few occasions where 
councils resisted following the correct process for 
public interest reports. This required us in three 
cases to follow the unusual practice of publishing 
a further report calling on the council to properly 
discharge its duties. The councils concerned 
were:

 > Luton Borough Council (report not published)

 > The Council of the Isles of Scilly (case 
reference: 15019440)

 > Rossendale Borough Council (case reference: 
15011613)

While it is regrettable we had to resort to such 
measures, I welcome that all three councils 
have now agreed to fully implement our 
recommendations. 

Clarity on financial assessments

We also had an application for a judicial review 
of our decision by a council thrown out at the 
High Court. We issued a public interest report 
to Wokingham Borough Council about a woman 
who had approached it for social care support 
and she had received a personal injury award for 
medical negligence at birth. The council disputed 
our view that the law required the personal injury 
award to be disregarded, and so funding should 
be provided from when she approached it. 

The council challenged our report through 
judicial review. It felt we should take a ‘purposive’ 
approach to the law, and consider its resources 
when making our decisions. It also argued we 
should suspend investigations if any of the 
principles are subject to general litigation in the 
courts. The court dismissed the council’s case 
as being ‘totally without merit’ and we published 
our report in early 2018. The judgment provides 
clarity for all councils on how we will investigate 
complaints about personal injury awards. It also 
confirms that we will hold councils to account on 
the established law, rights and standards, not 
based on local funding pressures.

 

Compliance with recommendations
Page 48

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/other-categories/other/15-019-440
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/other-categories/other/15-019-440
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/licensing/15-011-613
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/licensing/15-011-613


8

How to view complaint statistics

When viewing data for individual councils, it is important to understand the volume of complaints 
does not, in itself, indicate the quality of a council’s performance. High volumes of complaints can 
be a sign of an open, learning organisation, as well as sometimes being an early warning of wider 
problems. Low complaint volumes can be a worrying sign that an organisation is not alive to user 
feedback, rather than always being an indicator that all is well. 

Complaint figures should be used as the start of a conversation, rather than an absolute measure of 
corporate health of an authority. 

The figures in this report are correct at the time of publication but may be subject to change to 
correct any errors in how cases have been categorised. We do not expect any adjustment to 
significantly alter the overall figures.

Data tables and annual letters

You can download the data tables for our local government complaints 2017-18, which provides 
information at a local authority level.

You can view individual council annual letters.

Using the statistics
Page 49

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/local-government-complaint-reviews
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/councils-performance


9

How councillors can use our data to support scrutiny

Many local authorities already use our annual letters and complaint statistics to report to scrutiny 
committees and other oversight functions.

As a councillor, you can use information about complaints to help identify issues affecting local 
people. We suggest some ways you could use our data to inform scrutiny of local services:

Complaints received

 > Does the Ombudsman receive particularly high or low numbers of complaints in particular service areas?

Remember that a high number of complaints could indicate a council open to receiving feedback, not 
just be indicative of problems with services. Despite that, discrepancies across service areas could 
indicate good or bad complaint handling, or good or bad signposting to the Ombudsman in certain 
departments.

You could compare the number of complaints to us against the number of complaints made to the 
council, or against other similar authorities, to build up a better picture.

Uphold rates

 > Are there any service areas where there are particularly high or low uphold rates? 

Uphold rates show the proportion of investigations in which we find some fault, and can indicate 
problems with services. Compare these with the national averages in our report or against other 
authorities.

Recommendations

 > How does your council remedy injustices and learn from complaints to improve things for local 
people?

Look at the number of service improvement recommendations your council agrees to make following 
our investigations – what does this say about the council’s willingness to learn from complaints.

The number of investigations with a satisfactory remedy indicates that, while we found it had been at 
fault, the council had followed the right steps to put things right in its complaint response.

General complaint handling

There are some questions you could ask about your council’s approach to complaint handling.

 > How does quickly does your council respond to complaints?

 > How quickly does your council look to put things right when there is evidence of fault?

 > How does it make sure all partners it commissions services from also have effective complaint 
handling processes?

Page 50



10

Statistics

Complaints and enquiries received 2016-17 (left column) compared with 2017-18

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

O
th

er

Pl
an

ni
ng

Hou
sin

g

High
way

s a
nd

 

Tr
an

sp
or

t

En
vir

on
m

en
ta

l 

Ser
vic

es

 an
d 

Pr
ot

ec
tio

n

Ed
uc

at
io

n 
an

d 

Chil
dr

en
's 

Ser
vic

es

Cor
po

ra
te

 
an

d 
O

th
er

Ben
ef

its
 an

d 

Ta
xa

tio
n

Adu
lt 

Car
e 

Ser
vic

es
The following statistics are an accumulation of the data from individual councils’ annual performance. 
They encompass each English local authority, National Parks Authorities, the Greater London 
Authority, Transport for London, and the Environment Agency. Where available, we have provided a 
comparison with the previous year. 

The last section of this report explains the changes we are making to further enhance how we report 
in the future on how our recommendations are implemented.

2,
55

5
2,

60
2

2,
10

9
2,

0
63

1,0
10

1,0
27

2,
98

3 3,
26

0

1,6
87 1,8

0
2

2,
0

0
5

2,
0

44 2,
19

8

2,
33

6

2,
26

8

13
4 18
6

2,
0

46

Page 51



11

Decisions made and investigations completed

2016-17 2017-18

 > We were not the right organisation to help

 > People had not completed the council or care provider’s complaints process

 > We started making enquiries but decided there were good reasons why we could not, or 
should not, investigate fully 

 > We made a decision on whether there was fault and/or injustice

 > We made recommendations to put things right, or provided assurance the body acted correctly

7,793 
cases dealt with by initial 

check

4,650 
cases dealt with by 

assessment

4,279 
cases dealt with by 

investigation

4,808 
cases dealt with by 

assessment

4,020 
cases dealt with by 

investigation

8,135  
cases dealt with by initial 

check

1,982 
investigations 

not upheld

1,745 
investigations 

not upheld

2,297 
investigations 

upheld

2,275 
investigations 

upheld

Page 52



12

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Plan
ning

Housin
g

Highway
s a

nd

 Tr
an

sp
ort

Enviro
nm

ental

 Service
s

 an
d Protecti

on

Educa
tio

n an
d 

Child
ren's S

ervice
s

Corp
orat

e 

an
d O

th
er

Benefit
s a

nd 

Ta
xa

tio
n

Adult C
are

 Service
s

Investigation uphold rates  (in percentages) 2016-17 (left column) v 2017-18

2017-18 - average 57%

2016-17 - average 54%

63
%

61
%

60
%

70
%

44
%

52
%

63
%

65
%

49
%

50
%

45
%

50
%

54
%

61
%

35
%

41
%

Page 53



13

Recommendations

Types of recommendations

Recommendations to remedy personal injustice typically include things like: an apology, financial 
redress, provision of services, writing off a debt, or a new appeal or review of a case. They can also 
encompass creative recommendations to fix things based on the person’s circumstances.

Recommendations to improve services typically include things like: a review of policies, change to 
practices, training staff, and raising awareness raising of issues within the authority and to the public. 
We can also ask authorities to put things right specifically for others that did not directly complain to 
us, but may have been affected by the issues found within an investigation.

Satisfactory remedy shows the number of cases where the authority was at fault, but we decided 
it had done all that it could to put things right by offering a satisfactory remedy during the local 
complaints process.

Page 54



14

We made a lot of changes to our processes last year to lay the groundwork for us to improve the way 
we record and publish data about how complaints are remedied.

We are doing this to move away from a simplistic focus on complaint volumes and turn the focus 
onto the lessons that can be learned and the wider improvements we can achieve through our 
recommendations to improve services for the many. 

A small number of councils are taking part in a pilot project this year to more systematically record 
our recommendations and how these are implemented. The aim is to report fully against all councils 
from 2019-20, with the data visualised through an interactive map. We will be making changes to the 
format of our annual letters as a result and will be engaging with councils on this early next year.

This new reporting will provide local authorities with a powerful suite of data to track progress 
against actions they have agreed to remedy injustices, and provide evidence of the outcomes they’ve 
improved for their citizens by responding positively to our recommendations.

Future reporting on remedies
Page 55



Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman
PO Box 4771
Coventry
CV4 0EH

Phone: 0300 061 0614
Web:  www.lgo.org.uk
Twitter: @LGOmbudsman

Page 56

www.lgo.org.uk
http://www.twitter.com/lgombudsman


Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 3 September 2018 / 11 September 2018

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Budget Monitoring Report 2018/19 – Quarter One

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2018/19, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2018/19 financial year for 
the first quarter year period to 30 June 2018 as well as updating Members on other key 
areas of financial performance. 

1.2. The Council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s finances.  In 
addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring 
reports, these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, 
as set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 57 Agenda Item 8



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

General Fund (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter One there is projected underspend for the year of £135,370.  
Movements affecting the forecast position against the original budget for the year in the 
main pertain to continued implementation of Bridging the Gap activity.

2.2. Because the council ended 2017/18 in a favourable position, budgets totalling £146,360 
were approved for carry forward into 2018/19.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £7.30m, constituted of 
the minimum working balances of £1.25m, the General Fund reserve of £2m and usable 
Working Balances of £4.05m.

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net increase in reserves of £0.4m, 
with the level of reserves being £7.5m at start of year and projected to be £7.9m at year- 
end.

2.5. Significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position continue to come from the lack 
of clarity regarding the future of local government funding and legislative change, such 
as the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act.  

General Fund (Capital)

2.6. The General Fund Capital Programme for the year is budgeted at £31.8m, including 
£16.2m to support furtherance of the council’s land and commercial property portfolio 
and £14.2m to fund redevelopment of the St George’s Shopping Centre.  Actual spend 
to the end of Quarter One was £8.8m.

HRA (Revenue)

2.7. At the end of Quarter One income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, albeit 
the budgeted contribution from reserves to fund revenue expenditure planned for the 
year is no longer required and current information actually indicates a contribution to the 
General HRA Reserve at year-end. The main movements affecting the forecast position 
against the original budget for the year are a reduction in planned repairs and 
maintenance spend due to the delivery of efficiencies in processes as experienced 
towards the end of the last financial year, and savings against staffing budgets.

2.8. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, at the minimum 
level of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to result in 
a net increase in the General HRA Reserves of £0.71m, with the level of reserves being 
£7.44m at start of year and projected to be £8.15m at year-end.

2.9. As with the GF, the significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the 
lack of clarity regarding funding and regulatory reform.  

Housing Capital

2.10. The Housing Capital Programme for the year is budgeted at £14.4m, with spend to the 
end of Quarter One of £5.1m.

Page 58



3

3. GENERAL FUND (REVENUE)

3.1. Budget 2018/19

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2017/18 was £12,622,790, funded by 
retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, Council Tax and use of £1,329,640 
Usable Working Balances, in accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. The table below sets out the current assessment of performance against the Original 
Budget by Directorate, based on known variances as at 30 June 2018. 

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2018/19 (£)

Forecast 
2018/19 (£)

Variation 
2018/19 (£)

Chief Executive 44,870 44,870 0
Communities 4,199,860 3,997,080 (202,780)
Corporate Services 3,856,280 3,847,330 (8,950)
Environment & Operations 2,598,380 2,528,380 (70,000)
Housing & Regeneration 2,110,220 2,110,220 0
Items Carried Forward from 2017-18 0 146,360 146,360
Non-Directorate Specific 1,113,390 1,113,390 0
Interest and Investment Income (627,320) (627,320) 0
Government Grant Funding (904,470) (904,470) 0
Transfers to/ (from) reserves 609,770 572,060 (37,710)
Transfers to/ (from) balances 1,035,980 1,185,980 150,000
Transactions below the line (1,414,170) (1,376,460) 37,710
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 12,622,790 12,637,420 14,630

Business Rates Income (3,679,110) (3,829,110) (150,000)
Council Tax Income (6,705,200) (6,705,200) 0
Parish Precepts (323,120) (323,120) 0
Passported Parish Grant 1,040 1,040
New Homes Bonus (586,760) (586,760) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 0 0 0
Use of Working Balances (1,329,640) (1,329,640) 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 (135,370) (135,370)

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

 
3.2. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.2.1 There are no significant variances to report..

3.3. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £202k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Acquisition of Wickes, Gravesend:  £377k favourable variance – in June 2017 Full 
Council gave approval for a second tranche of £10m from investment balances to be 
made available for purchases under the council’s existing Property Acquisition Strategy. 
In June 2018, the Council completed the acquisition of Wickes, Stuart Road Gravesend, 
which is anticipated to provide a current year rental income stream of £377k. The 
projected full-year income from 2019/20 onwards is £511k. 

Page 59



4

3.3.2. HR Shared Services: £23k favourable variance – as part of Bridging The Gap activity 
identified within the MTFS, the council has explored various shared service opportunities 
in recent years. From 1st April 2018 a shared Human Resources service with Medway 
Council has been established, producing an initial positive effect to the council’s Medium 
Term Financial Plan (MTFP) of £23k. Going forwards as processes are harmonised and 
developed further there may be scope for additional financial benefits, which will be 
reported on in due course. Additionally, the shared service provides greater resilience, 
for example enabling utilisation of the existing recruitment and training teams within 
Medway’s structure.  

3.3.3. St Georges’ Shopping Centre rental income: £146k adverse variance – the council 
holds the freehold interest of the St Georges Shopping Centre, though this had 
previously been subject to a 150-year lease to Queenridge Properties since 1982.  
Under the terms of the lease the council received a “basic rent” of £195k per annum and 
an “additional rent” of 10% of the rents that Queenridge Properties received from the 
occupying tenants in excess of £1.95m per annum. To date, no additional rent has ever 
been payable.

3.3.4. At Cabinet in April 2018, the council agreed to enter into an agreement with Reef 
Estates Group for redevelopment of the St George’s Centre. Detailed financial modelling 
was undertaken, incorporating projected annual lease payments to Reef, returns made 
on the initial investment balance received by the council, and rental income receivable 
from the centre. The expectation is that the inflows to the council of rental and 
investment income will be equal, or more than equal, to the annual lease payments for 
the 50-year term of the lease. 

3.3.5. As a result of this change, the arrangement whereby the council received a “basic rent” 
of £195k per annum (as referenced in paragraph 3.3.3) for the Shopping Centre has 
now ceased and been replaced by the new income and expenditure forecasts. 
Resultantly, there is part-year adverse variance in 2018/19’s MTFP of £146k, with a full 
year effect of £195k from 2019/20 onwards.

3.3.6. Information Governance:  £41k adverse variance – prior to General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) 2016/679 coming into implementation on 25th May 2018, the council 
considered resourcing options in terms of managing the potential impact of GDPR 
changes. The result is a further cost of £41k financing an additional post within the Legal 
& Information Governance shared service with Medway Council to support the council in 
responding to the enhanced challenges.

3.3.7. Safer Stronger Communities: neutral variance – the council has successfully secured 
funding from the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) to support the activity of 
Gravesham’s Community Safety Unit in 2018-19.  It is intended that these funds are 
used to provide specialist intervention work for young people involved in gang activity; to 
meet some of the costs of seasonal and crime prevention activity and to contribute to the 
cost of new and mobile CCTV camera deployments, in part related to tackling serious 
and organised crime.  This also includes a small tactical pot of funding to address any 
unforeseen priorities that may occur during the year.

3.3.8. War Memorials: neutral variance – reserve funding from previously unallocated grant 
balances has been made available to support World War One commemoration activity 
within the borough. This principally involves cleaning/conservation work of existing war 
memorials and also supporting the national “There But Not There” campaign which aims 
to educate all generations in understanding the fate of British and Commonwealth 
soldiers during World War One. 

Page 60



5

3.3.9. Other Minor Variances: £11k adverse variance – a number of minor variances have 
been reported within the Communities Directorate; the net effect of these variances is 
£11k.

3.4 CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £9k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.4.1 External Audit Fee: £9k favourable variance – in April 2018 the council received 
notification of the planned audit fee relating to the annual Statement of Accounts for 
2018/19. This is £41k, which represents a reduction from the 2017/18 fee and previously 
budgeted figure of £53k. This has resulted in a positive effect to the General Fund MTFP 
of £9k, with the remaining £3k reflected as a saving within HRA budgets.

3.4.2 Corporate Debt Pilot System: neutral variance – funding from the Corporate Priorities 
Reserve of £9k has been made available to support a pilot project for the central 
collation, analysis and management of debt across the council. The project involves 
utilising specialist software to draw data from different income streams, carry out 
matching activity and guide officers in determining specific courses of action for 
individual debtors of the council.

3.5 ENVIRONMENT & OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE –  £70k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.5.1 Garden Waste Collection Service: £70k favourable variance – the garden waste 
subscription service has continued to expand in 2018/19 with over 750 new customers 
joining during April / May. This additional volume, in conjunction with a review of the 
existing charging structure from 1st April 2018, has led to additional net income of £70k 
compared to the original budget. 

3.6 HOUSING & REGENERATION – NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.6.1 Digitisation of Planning records: neutral variance – the Planning Department has 26 
years of planning history stored on approximately 68,000 microfiche covering 1974 -
2000. This medium for storing information is out dated and time intensive when 
retrieving information from them.  Funding of £22k was made available from the 
Corporate Priorities Reserve to undertake this work, and prior to 2018/19, £16k had 
been spent.  The remaining £8k has been released in to 2018/19 when it is anticipated 
the work will be completed. 

Page 61



6

3.7 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2017/18 – £146k

3.7.1 The following items from 2017/18 have been approved for carry forward to 2018/19 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team: 

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2017/18

Page 62



7

3.8 INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – NEUTRAL VARIANCE 

3.8.1 Investment Income: neutral variance – the budgeted return for interest and investment 
income for 2018/19 is £627k.  The Council continues to hold £10m invested in three 
Externally Managed Property Funds and a further £10m invested in three Multi-Asset 
Funds.  Dividends received in relation to the first quarter of 2018/19 indicate the return 
on these investments is in line with budget.  The balance of the Council’s investments is 
held in fixed term deposits, certificates of deposit and money market funds; again, the 
returns on these investments are in line with the budget.  

3.8.2 On 2 August 2018 the Bank of England announced an increase in the base rate from 
0.50% to 0.75%, the highest level since March 2009.  Further analysis will be 
undertaken to assess the impact of this increase along with any revisions to the 
Council’s cashflow projections and reported as part of the Quarter Two Budget 
Monitoring Report.

3.9 FUNDING STREAMS – NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.9.1 Transfers to/(from) reserves & Transactions Below the line: net neutral variance – 
under accounting arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-funded 
expenditure within services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer into the 
specific service) are shown here. The total of £38k relates to the reserve funded items 
as described within the Communities, Corporate Services and Housing & Regeneration 
Directorate sections.

3.9.2 Transfers to/(from) balances & Business Rates Income: neutral variance – the 
council entered into the Kent Business Rates Pilot scheme for 2018/19 from 1st April 
whereby the 50% of any business rate growth previously paid over to Central 
Government would instead be retained within Kent.  In setting the budget for 2018/19, 
the council anticipated receiving £250k from the Financial Sustainability Fund 
established through the pilot, with this amount being transferred straight to working 
balances as a means of providing sustainability of the council’s financial position.  
Following the latest business rates monitoring across Kent, a healthy position is 
projected and therefore a further £150k benefit to the council from the Financial 
Sustainability Fund is being recognised at this stage. This is also being applied directly 
to working balances (and therefore has a neutral effect on the MTFP “bottom-line”), the 
effect of which can be found in the table in section 3.11.

3.10 Other Variances and Risks not reflected in the Current Budget

3.10.1 Staffing Budgets – the General Fund staffing budget for 2018/19 incorporates a 
vacancy allowance of £350k for the year. It is anticipated that this will occur throughout 
the establishment as a whole from natural turnover within day-to-day business activities, 
as well as vacant posts held pending the re-design of services. For the first quarter to 30 
June 2018, actual staffing spend was £113k lower than budgeted.

3.10.2 Fees and Charges (General) – Income received from fees and charges supports the 
annual budget. Monitoring to the end of June indicates that income streams are 
generally performing well against budget; monitoring will continue during the year with 
any known variances reported through budget monitoring reports.

Page 63



8

3.10.3 Homelessness – with the introduction of the new homelessness legislation at the start 
of this quarter, the number of households the council has a duty to assist has increased 
in line with previously modelled trends.  In Quarter One in 2017/18 the council was 
approached by 241 people requiring assistance to resolve their housing issues. For the 
same period in 2018/19 this has increased to 374 and has led to more people requiring 
temporary accommodation and the council having to utilise accommodation other than 
its own.  

3.10.4 In addition to this, as well as preventing homelessness the council has a duty to relieve 
homelessness. In Quarter One of 2018/19 the Housing Needs Service closed 38 cases 
at prevention and 27 at relief stages.  Decisions were reached regarding six cases but 
homelessness was not prevented/relieved.  229 cases were closed due to lack of 
contact or after being provided with advice.  There were 12 cases open and still being 
processed as of end of Quarter One.

3.10.5 Currently, it is felt that the pressures described above can be adequately managed 
through the additional funding received from the Government linked to the introduction 
of these enhanced legislative requirements. This will continue to be monitored and 
reported on during the year.

3.11 Working Balances and Reserves

3.11.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect 
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2017/18 7,305,450 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 586,760 
NNDR Income - Kent Pilot & Pool (Straight to working balances) 449,220 
NNDR Income - Additional growth in Kent Pilot released in Q1 150,000 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund (1,329,640)
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2017/18) 135,370 
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2018) including 
Minimum GF Working Balance 7,297,160 
Less: Minimum GF balance (1,250,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (2,000,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2018) 4,047,160 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

Page 64



9

3.11.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

3.11.3 Significant or new approved use of reserves include:

3.11.4 Corporate Priorities Reserve - £9k Corporate Debt Pilot Systems (Corporate 
Services), £8k Microfilming work (Housing & Regeneration), £25k Feasibility Studies re 
land adjacent to Dering Way and at Milton Place.

3.11.5 Revenue Grants not yet applied - £91k Flexible Homelessness Grant received in 
2017/18 now released to fund temporary accommodation costs, £21k released to War 
Memorials project (as described within the Communities Directorate section).

Page 65



10

3.12 Medium Term Financial Planning

3.12.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government 
grants and energy prices, together with building in all known variances to the Council’s 
budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The latest version of 
the Medium Term Financial Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Two.

3.12.2 A technical consultation on the 2019-20 Local Government Finance Settlement was 
released on 24 July 2018.  This contained three points of interest for the council; 

 a proposal to allocate additional resources to eliminate negative RSG during 
2019/20.  For Gravesham, the value of negative RSG to be ‘paid’ by the council 
to government is £243,710.

 the indication that council tax referendum principles for shire districts in two tier 
areas (i.e. Gravesham) will be allowed to increase council tax up to 3% or £5, 
whichever is the higher;

 notification of the expectation that the 0.4% baseline for New Homes Bonus will 
be increased, and the intention of government to explore how, post-2020, to 
incentivise housing delivery.

The council will be submitting a response to the consultation.

3.12.3 Government has also released a prospectus inviting local authorities to submit 
proposals to pilot 75% business rates retention in 2019/20.  The existing Kent and 
Medway Business Rates Pilot (consisting Kent County Council, Medway Unitary 
Council, Kent & Medway Fire & Rescue Service and the 12 District Councils within the 
geographical area of Kent) will be submitting a bid to retain its Pilot status into 2019/20.

3.12.4 There continues to be little clarity on the future of local government funding post-2020, 
with indications continuing to suggest shift in funding from lower tier authorities (such as 
Gravesham) to upper tier authorities.  Recent media reports suggest the release of 
information regarding the overall spending envelope for local government as part of this 
year’s Autumn Budget in November, with the Spending Review 2019 announced in 
Spring 2019 and indicative funding allocations to be issued mid-2019. 

Page 66



11

4. GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the final outturn for the General Fund Capital Programme and 
the revised original budget for 2018/19, taking into consideration adjustments to the 
carried forward items, as approved by the Section151 Officer and Management team, 
and subject to audit.

Scheme

2018/19 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/Fwd              

£

2018/19 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2018/19 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2018/19 
Actual 

Expenditure 
Qtr 1                  

£
Variance           

£
Older Persons Champion 6,410 0 6,410 1,028 (5,382)
Essential Repairs to Buildings 99,000 0 99,000 0 (99,000)
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 21,580 0 21,580 0 (21,580)
Local Enterprise Partnership Projects 56,920 0 56,920 4,101 (52,819)
Town Pier Pontoon 84,000 0 84,000 0 (84,000)
Parrock St Car Park - Toilet Block (Provision) 34,220 0 34,220 0 (34,220)
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 205,000 0 205,000 0 (205,000)
Gatekeeper Replacement 50,000 0 50,000 0 (50,000)
Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches 0 50,000 50,000 0 (50,000)
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 100,000 0 100,000 0 (100,000)
Waste & Horticulture back office system 200,000 0 200,000 0 (200,000)
Replacement Playground Programme 220,000 0 220,000 0 (220,000)
Queen Elizabeth II Statue 38,650 0 38,650 3,680 (34,970)
IT Equipment Review 50,540 0 50,540 24,753 (25,787)
Virtual Desktop Infrastructure Software 8,800 0 8,800 8,869 69
Information at Work - Retention Module Software 13,970 0 13,970 0 (13,970)
Civica Financial System upgrade 22,070 0 22,070 0 (22,070)
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,500,000 0 1,500,000 0 (1,500,000)
St John's House - Refurbishment 70,000 0 70,000 0 (70,000)
Property Acquisition Programme 9,141,200 1,700,000 10,841,200 8,471,065 (2,370,135)
Land Acquisiton Programme 0 3,898,430 3,898,430 239,623 (3,658,807)
Heritage Quarter - St George's Centre 0 14,242,970 14,242,970 0 (14,242,970)

11,922,360 19,891,400 31,813,760 8,753,118 (23,060,642)

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2018/19

 Older Persons Champion – the budget for a number of projects was carried forward 
from 2017/18.  Two new benches have now been installed at Portreeve Court.  The 
match funding for Age UK bathroom refurbishment is still available.

 Essential Repairs to Buildings – new LED / motion sensor lighting has been installed 
in the north and south stairwells of the Civic Centre.  The retention in respect of concrete 
repairs to Civic Centre has been retained pending the work being signed off by the 
consultant.

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements - the new cemetery software is currently being 
implemented.

 Local Enterprise Partnership Projects (LEP Funded) – Rollout of the way-finding 
signage extension has been completed barring snagging. Town centre Way Finding 
signage is now complete with no further changes anticipated until the Barrack Row bus 
interchange is built in 2019. 

 Town Pier remedial works – emergency works are required to the supporting timbers 
of the Pier.  The tenant is liable for these works and the cost to the council is expected 
to be reimbursed in full.  The scaffolding is now in place, works to timber deck scheduled 
to complete by end of August.

Page 67



12

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) - vehicle requirements for the current year and 
procurement options are currently being assessed.

 Gatekeeper Replacement – a dialogue has been entered into with Arriva to facilitate 
the continuation of bus services supporting the town centre whilst simultaneously 
delivery the associated SRT saving. 

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling - a review is taking place looking at the blocks 
of flats to determine the number of bins which will be required.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – the procurement process for the back 
office system is currently underway.

 Replacement Playground Programme – the installations at Cascades and Windmill 
Hill were completed by the end of July.

 Queen Elizabeth II Statue – expenditure on the Queen’s statue has been wholly funded 
from third-party contributions. The Right Reverend James Langstaff, Bishop of 
Rochester and Bishop to H.M. Prisons unveiled the statue jointly with the Leader of the 
Council on 26th July 2018.

 IT Equipment review - work on this project is nearing completion with only a few 
departments awaiting their new equipment to be installed.

 Virtual Desktop Infrastructure software - after completing the desktop device phase 
of this software project, work has commenced on the “Workspace Suite” phase for 
mobile devices.

 Information at Work - Retention Module Software – the software licences have been 
allocated by the supplier and installation dates are to be agreed with their engineers as 
part of an overall project plan.

 Civica Financials System Upgrade – works are required to upgrade the reporting and 
operations element of the system before they become de-supported and opportunity is 
being taken to bring forward the planned upgrade to the server hosting the council’s 
financial system so these works can be carried out at the same time. This work is 
scheduled to take place in Quarter Two.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation - the accommodation project is progressing at a 
slower pace than was previously expected.  There are no further developments to report 
at this stage.

 St John’s House Refurbishment - tenders have been returned and a contractor 
appointed.  The work will commence once the existing tenant’s lease ends in mid-
August.

 Property Acquisition Programme – in June 2018 Full Council approved an extension 
of £1.7m to the funding available to deliver the council’s Property Acquisition Strategy, 
taking the total funding available to £21.7m allowing for a further two potential 
acquisitions to be made to the benefit of the council’s investment property portfolio.  At 
the end of June the council acquired the long leasehold interest in the site at Stuart 
Road, Gravesend, currently tenanted by Wickes.

Page 68



13

 Land Acquisition Programme - during the first quarter the council concluded its 
acquisition of land at Dering Way and secured a further small town centre site under the 
Land Acquisition Programme, intended to enable the council to secure land assets 
within the borough which could assist the council with potential development and 
revenue generating opportunities in the future.

 Heritage Quarter (St George’s Centre) - in May the council terminated the 
Development Agreement between the council and Queenridge Properties Ltd/Edinburgh 
House and agreed to enter into an agreement with Reef Estates to regenerate the Town 
Centre focusing on the St George’s Shopping Centre and the areas known as the 
Eastern and Western Quarters.  The first phase of this agreement, focusing on the 
reinvigoration of the St George’s Shopping Centre, was signed off in June and resulted 
in the council becoming the custodian of the sum of £14.2m for the purposes of 
delivering improvements to the Shopping Centre, including the construction of the 
Leisure Quarter, mall enlivenment and entrance enhancement works.

4.2 Capital Resources

4.2.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in 
the future:

General Fund Capital Resources

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2018                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2018/19                           

£           

Proposed Use 
of Funding 

2018/19                                                          
£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2019           
£

Capital Receipts (1,145,475) (6,670) 276,990 (875,155)
S106 Capital Contributions (274,490) 0 0 (274,490)
Capital Grants unapplied (588,280) 0 349,600 (238,680)
Total Capital Resources (2,008,245) (6,670) 626,590 (1,388,325)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2018/19

Capital Grants Unapplied

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2018                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2018/19                           

£           

Proposed Use 
of Funding 

2018/19              
£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2019              
£

Public Realm Improvement & Maint Funds (213,540) 0 213,540 0
Transport Quarter Stage 3 (223,610) 0 136,060 (87,550)
Localised Council Tax Support (89,220) 0 0 (89,220)
Local Enterprise Partnership Funding (6,910) 0 0 (6,910)
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (588,280) 0 349,600 (238,680)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2018/19

Page 69



4.2.2 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions General 
Fund          

£
HRA               

£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2018/19                  

£

Purpose of S106

Leith Park Road Development 0 (5,680) 0 (5,680)
Originally paid by developer in lieu of providing affordable housing units at Leith 
Park Road. Originally received £310,000.  

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,594) 0 0 (2,594)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.
Springhead Quarter 0 (250,000) 0 (250,000) Provision or major upgrade of affordable housing.

Whitehill Road Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (69,900) 0 0 (69,900)
Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000, Air Quality Contribution 
£2,900.  £50,000 Cascades Leisure Contribution.

Whitehill Road   0 0 (1,000) (1,000) Highways contribution
Invicta House 0 0 (4,695) (4,695) Strategic Access Management and Monitoring contribution.

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

SAMM Contribution 0 0 (23,934) (23,934)

The EU Directive regarding Bird Disturbance on the North Kent Marshes requires 
us to collect these monies from developers of new dwellings.  They are to be held 
alongside, but separate from normal s106 monies.

Total S106 Contributions (274,494) (255,680) (109,629) (639,803)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2018/19

P
age 70



5 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

5.1 Budget 2018/19

5.1.1 The table below sets out the current forecast spend against the original budget for the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 30 June 2018.

5.1.2 As at 30 June 2018 the forecast reflects a saving of £837k due to variances within 
Supervision and Management, Repairs and Maintenance and Capital Finance against 
the Original Budget.

Description
Original 
Budget 

2018/19 (£)

Forecast    
2018/19 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 6,014,770 5,942,770 (72,000)
Repairs and Maintenance 7,766,870 7,021,870 (745,000)
Depreciation 6,813,840 6,813,840 0
Supporting People Fund - Expenditure 667,200 667,200 0
Capital Finance 6,539,560 6,519,560 (20,000)
Sub Total Expenditure 27,802,240 26,965,240 (837,000)
Rents of Dwellings (25,298,700) (25,298,700) 0
Other Rental Income (33,370) (33,370) 0
Service Charges (1,380,300) (1,380,300) 0
Non Dwelling Income (327,130) (327,130) 0
Supporting People Fund -Service Charge Income (103,480) (103,480) 0
Supporting People Fund - Grant (418,160) (418,160) 0
Other Income (112,260) (112,260) 0
Sub Total Income (27,673,400) (27,673,400) 0
Contributions to/(from) reserves (128,840) 708,160 837,000
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 9: Housing Revenue Account 2018/19

5.2 SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT - £73k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.2.1 Vacancy Management: £85k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2018/19 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year. It is anticipated that 
this will occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural turnover within day-
to-day business activities, as well as vacant posts held pending the re-design of 
services. For the first quarter to 30 June 2018, actual staffing spend was £85k lower 
than budgeted.

5.2.2 Holding Hands: £5k favourable variance – there has been a slow uptake of incentives 
of the Holding Hands scheme during the first quarter of 2018/19 and therefore it is 
unlikely the full budget will be spent.  The underspend will be made available to fund the 
additional CCTV monitor costs that are identified in para 5.3.2.

5.2.3 Audit Fee: £3K favourable variance – As per para 3.4.1, the reduction in the planned 
audit fee relating to the annual Statement of Accounts for 2018/19 also results in a 
saving for the HRA of £3,000.

Page 71



16

5.2.4 Pest Control: £1k adverse variance – the need for a moderate budget for pest control 
has been identified by the housing team which was not apparent when setting the 
original budget.

5.2.5 Stock Condition Survey: £20k adverse variance – It has been agreed to increase the 
number of properties included in the 2018/19 stock condition survey from 1,000 to 2,000 
properties.  This will produce additional financial information which will inform both the 
revenue and capital programme for 2019/20 and beyond.  The cost of the additional 
properties to be surveyed will result in an additional cost of £20,000.

5.3 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE - £745k FAVOURABLE

5.3.1 Repairs & Maintenance: £750k - favourable variance – As reported in the 2017/18 
outturn report, significant changes within the Responsive Repairs Team continue to 
deliver efficiencies and savings whilst providing an equitable service that meets the 
council’s objectives as a landlord as well as managing tenant’s expectations.  The IT 
system that was introduced continues to support the evolution of the service, creating 
further opportunities to work in smarter ways to deliver efficiencies and savings, 
underpinned and reinforced by the introduction of the new and updated polices to 
ensure that only necessary work is carried out and that any works above and beyond 
the responsibility of the council are paid for by the tenant. These changes align to 
recommendations of the Overview Scrutiny Committee, Housing repairs Topic Review 
(Part 2). Whilst the current projected underspend of £750,000 at the end of the current 
financial year is likely, it is also important to remember that this budget funds a reactive 
service where demand naturally fluctuates in response to factors outside of the councils 
control.

5.3.2 CCTV Monitors: £5k – adverse variance - the need for a moderate budget has been 
identified to meet the cost of additional CCTV monitors relating to the HRA which are not 
covered by the agreement with Medway.  This will be met through the redirection of 
existing budget as referenced at paragraph 5.2.3 above.

5.4 CAPITAL FINANCE - £20k FAVOURABLE

5.4.1 Interest Payable: £20k – favourable variance – the HRA’s share of interest costs on 
external borrowing is lower than originally budgeted as no additional debt was taken in 
2017/18. 

Page 72



17

5.5 Other Variances and Risks not reflected in the Current Budget

5.5.1 Social Housing Green Paper – the paper sets out the intention of government to boost 
home ownership by allowing households to buy as little as 1% of their council houses 
every year under a type of shared ownership scheme with their local authority or 
housing association.  Currently there is a requirement to buy at least 10%.  Other 
proposals include the introduction of league tables for social housing providers, 
increasing the strength of the social housing regulator to ensure social homes are well 
managed and of decent quality and a future consultation on enabling councils to offer 
residents greater security through fixed-term tenancies. 

5.5.2 Supported Housing – government appears to have stepped away from its proposals to 
fund short-term accommodation costs via a grant to authorities, instead indicating that 
funding for these costs will remain within the welfare benefit system.  

5.6 Working Balances and Reserves

5.6.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect 
upon the General Fund working balances:

 

Working Balances £

Balance Brought Forward from 2017/18 3,000,000
Variances per budget report 708,160
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2018) 
including minimum HRA Working Balance 3,708,160

Less: Transfer to HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (708,160)
Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 30 June 2018) 3,000,000

Table 10: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

5.6.2 The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

HRA Specific Reserves
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2018

Forecast         
Use of Reserve 

(Expenditure)

Forecast 
Contributions 

(Income)

Forecast 
Balance              

30/06/2018
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (7,441) 0 (708) (8,149)
Total (7,441) 0 (708) (8,149)

Table 11: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

Page 73



18

5.7 HRA Business Plan

5.7.1 The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into account 
longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants and energy 
prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget resulting from 
Management Team and Cabinet decisions.

5.7.2 The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles identified 
in the recent Stock Condition Survey produced by Penningtons in July 2018.  It also 
reflects future forecasts of the New Build Programme beyond the existing three year 
scheme based on the current assumption of the sale of 30 Council Houses per annum.

5.7.3 The latest version of the HRA Business Plan is attached to this report at Appendix 
Three.

6 HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

6.1 The Housing Capital programme for 2018/19 is £14,425,330 of which £13,463,240 
relates to HRA capital schemes and £962,090 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  
These budgets included £231,230 and £287,030, respectively that have been carried 
forward from 2017/18.

6.2 The HRA capital schemes continued to focus on the minimum decent homes standard 
for the Council’s stock in 2018/19, with £7,356,680 earmarked for this purpose within the 
Replacement, Improvement and Health & Safety Programmes.  The council also 
continued its commitment to build new homes with £5,406,780 allocated for this 
purpose.

Ref 
No: Project

 Original Budget 
2018-19 inc 

CFwd (£)
Expenditure (£) Variation (£)

A Replacement Programmes 4,017,940 1,671,020 (2,346,920)
B Improvement Programmes 2,228,320 1,247,270 (981,050)
C Health & Safety Works 1,110,420 86,060 (1,024,360)
D New Build & Acquisions 5,406,780 1,867,950 (3,538,830)
E Housing Computer Systems 600,000 0 (600,000)
F Virtual Desktop Infrastructure 2,930 0 (2,930)
G Replacement Play Equipment 80,000 0 (80,000)
H IT Equipment Review 16,850 0 (16,850)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 13,463,240 4,872,300 (8,590,940)
I Disabled Facilities Grant 962,090 239,480 (722,610)

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 14,425,330 5,111,780 (9,313,550)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 12: Housing Capital Programme 2018/19

Page 74



19

6.3 The works undertaken/completed in Quarter 1 are detailed below:

6.3.1 Replacement Programmes (Ref A) - the following works have been completed within 
Quarter 1:

 24 kitchen replacements;

 15 bathroom replacements;

 8 properties had new window and door replacements;

 108 properties had electrical tests and/or remedial works including rewiring, 
minor works and upgrades to consumer units;

 4 residential blocks had their roof completely replaced.

6.3.2 Improvement Programmes (Ref B) - the following works have been completed within 
Quarter 1:

 59 properties had new central heating systems installed;

 20 properties had level access showers/wet rooms installed;

 10 properties had over-bath installations;

 3 stairs lifts were installed in properties;

 2 properties had various adaptations completed including accessible kitchens, 
bathrooms and ramps. 

In additional to completed works, major renovation works are being carried out on 3 
properties to modernise the homes and bring them in line with our expected standards.

6.3.3 Health & Safety Works (Ref C) - the following works have been completed in
Quarter 1: 

 Compartmentalisation works have been carried out in the basement of The Hive.  
The works were agreed as a preventative measure to help contain the spread of 
flames in the event of a fire.  In addition to this, works have been carried out to 
protect the gas and electrical meters situated in the basement. 

Page 75



20

6.4 New Build (Ref D)

6.4.1 The authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain part of the Right To Buy 
(RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition of additional 
social housing.  The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter 1:

 The 10 unit scheme at Packham Road (now known as Alders Court) is 
underway.  The completion of  6 x 2 bed houses, 3 x 1 bed bungalows and 1 x 2 
bed wheelchair compliant bungalow is expected to complete in October 2018;

 The council continues to purchase properties from the market.  The total  
purchases to date is 30 properties;

 The conversion of the Kings Farm Estate Office to a 4 bed wheelchair home is 
underway and is expected to complete in August 2018;

 On completion of a successful tendering process, a contractor has been 
appointed to the St Hilda’s Way project.  Works on the scheme, comprising of 17 
new homes, is due to commence in September 2018;  

 The planning application for 24 x 1 and 2 bed apartments and 8 x 3 bed houses 
for the redevelopment of Whitehill and Nansen Road was approved by the 
Regulatory Board in July 18;

 A planning application for the development of 48 new homes at Valley Drive is in 
the preliminary stages and is anticipated to be submitted for approval in the 
Autumn. 

6.4.2 The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2018, the balance on the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve fund stood at £425,980.  The proposal is to use the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects as this can either be used to 
repay debt or finance the capital programme.  This will ensure that the revenue surplus 
being generated can be moved to a general HRA reserve available for future use 
against either revenue or capital and that monies are only borrowed once all available 
resources have been utilised.

6.4.3 Table 13 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government

Page 76



21

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £

2012-14 c/f 1,518,530 3,543,230 5,061,750 19,194,350 31-Mar-17
2014-15
Q1 174,950 408,210 583,150 5,644,910 30-Jun-17
Q2 443,310 1,034,390 1,477,700 7,122,600 30-Sep-17
Q3 327,760 764,760 1,092,520 8,215,120 31-Dec-17
Q4 865,780 2,020,160 2,885,950 11,101,070 31-Mar-18
2015-16
Q1 124,270 289,960 414,230 11,515,300 30-Jun-18
Q2 233,510 544,870 778,380 12,293,680 30-Sep-18
Q3 589,670 1,375,910 1,965,580 14,259,260 31-Dec-18
Q4 650,580 1,518,010 2,168,590 16,427,860 31-Mar-19
2016-17
Q1 697,650 1,627,850 2,325,500 18,753,360 30-Jun-19
Q2 205,200 478,790 683,990 19,437,350 30-Sep-19
Q3 541,710 1,263,990 1,805,710 21,243,060 31-Dec-19
Q4 532,670 1,242,890 1,775,560 23,018,620 31-Mar-20
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-20
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-20
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-20
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-21
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-21
Total 9,411,310 21,959,730 31,371,040

Table 13: New Build

6.5 Housing Computer System (Ref E)
6.5.1 Following the initial work undertaken on the procurement of a new system, the 

exploration of joint procurement opportunity with Medway Council and a meeting with 
the current system provider, it has become apparent that support for the current housing 
system will not be withdrawn as early as officers were previously advised.  The delay in 
setting an end date for the withdrawal of support for the existing Capita system is due to 
the internal changes within the current supplier’s organisation.

6.5.2 Given the delay, for which approximately 18-24 months’ notice will be given, along with 
the opportunity to further explore the possibility of a joint procurement venture with 
Medway Council, the working group has suggested the Council should continue to work 
alongside Medway to develop/agree a framework for the new system.

6.5.3 It is therefore unlikely that any significant spend will be incurred in 2018/19.

Page 77



22

6.6 Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)
6.6.1 A tour of the play sites has taken place and a list of priority works which need to be 

carried out is in the process of being drafted for consideration.

6.7 Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref I) – The Private Sector Housing Assistance 
Policy has been revised and changes were implemented in April 2018.  The changes in 
policy has enabled people to gain access to funding which otherwise would not have 
been available.

6.7.1 The DFG administration process continues to work well.  128 DFG cases have been 
processed in the first quarter.  Of the 128 cases processed the breakdown is as follows:

 59 grant cases were approved;

 19 households had works completed;

 14 applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s circumstances;

 36 grant cases are awaiting approval.

6.7.2 In addition to this, and due to the changes in policy, eight people have been assisted by 
the Health and Housing Co-ordinator in having better managed hospital discharges.  A 
further 18 people having benefited from measures which ensured they were discharged 
from hospital into a safer home environment, including warmer homes.

6.7.3 Notification for the MHCLG was received in June 2018 confirming the level of funding to 
be allocated to GBC in 2018/19.  The grant awarded this year is £832,800, which is an 
increase against the original budgeted of £158k.  The total funding including the rolled 
forward amount from 2017/18 is therefore £1,110,000 and will be updated in Quarter 
Two.

6.8 Capital Resources
The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2018 (£)

Income 
2018/19 (£)

Use of 
Funding 

2018/19 (£)

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2019 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,085,850) (255,140) 699,780 (641,210)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (27,770) 0 0 (27,770)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (525,330) (6,589,700) 6,966,220 (148,810)
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (451,220) (224,140) 390,450 (284,910)
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (5,248,330) (1,016,620) 1,619,390 (4,645,560)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve (425,980) (627,570) 205,580 (847,970)
Disabled Facility Grants (544,140) (904,150) 904,150 (544,140)
Christianfields Overage (766,000) 0 0 (766,000)
Total (12,647,620) (9,617,320) 10,785,570 (11,479,370)
Table 14: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2018/19

Page 78



23

7 TREASURY MANAGEMENT

7.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles and 
guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by Local 
Authorities.  On 21 February Full Council approved the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2017-18, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual Investment Strategy 
is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield

7.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 
budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management activity 
to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months. A full list of internally managed 
investments held by the Council at 30 June 2018 can be found at Appendix Four of this 
report.

7.3 The Council currently pursues a variety of investment opportunities within its Treasury 
Management strategy: 

a) Around £10m is invested in Externally Managed Property Funds generating returns 
in the region of 3-5%.

b) A further £10m is invested in three Multi-Asset funds generating returns of around 3-
4%.

c) Remaining cash balances are generally invested in short-term deposits and 
overnight money market funds currently generating returns of around 0.5%.

d) A total of £19.3m has been expended purchasing Investment Properties from which 
initial yields have typically been upwards of 6%.

7.4 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period has 
been provided by Link Asset Services (formerly Capita Asset Services), the authority’s 
Treasury Management.

7.5 UK.  Growth in 2017 was disappointingly weak in the first half of the year but picked up 
to 0.5% in quarter 3 and 0.4% in quarter 4.  Growth in quarter 1 of 2018 was again 
disappointing, although on the first revision the rate improved from 0.1 to 0.2% to allay 
fears that the economy may have started a prolonged period of very weak growth.  
Initial indications in quarter 2 are that growth may have picked up speed to around 
0.4%. The main reason for weak growth during 2017 and 2018 has been that inflation 
has been exceeding pay growth until recently, meaning that there has been negative 
growth in consumer disposable income when consumer expenditure is the biggest 
driver of the services sector which accounts for about 75% of GDP.

7.6 The manufacturing sector was the bright spot in the economy in 2017 in terms of strong 
growth but quarter 1 was the weakest quarter for one and a half years and forward 
indicators do not suggest a return to strong growth is likely.

Page 79



24

7.7 During January and February financial markets were viewing a Bank Rate increase at 
the May Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meeting as likely to be a near certainty after 
strong growth in the second half of 2017.  However, the ensuing weeks before the 
meeting saw opinion turn right around and the MPC did not disappoint by leaving rates 
unchanged due to concerns as to whether the weak growth in quarter 1 was indicative 
of the start of a prolonged slow down or just a temporary blip, to which bad weather had 
been just one contributor.  Since May, opinion has again turned to suggest that an 
August Bank Rate increase is back on the cards.

7.8 However, there remains much uncertainty around the Brexit negotiations, consumer 
spending levels and business investment, so it is still far too early to be confident about 
how strong growth and inflationary pressures will be over the next two years, and 
therefore the pace of any rate increases.

7.9 EU.  A recovery to strong growth in 2016 and 2017 looks as if it will weaken somewhat 
going forward. Despite providing massive monetary stimulus, the ECB has been 
struggling to get inflation up to its 2% target.  However, in April the headline Eurozone 
rate jumped up from 1.4% to 1.9% although the core inflation rate was still subdued in 
rising from 0.7% to 1.1%. At its June meeting, the ECB announced it would halve its 
monthly quantitative easing purchases from €30bn to €15bn, and then end all 
purchases after December. It is unlikely to make a start on increasing interest rates until 
late in 2019.

7.10 USA. Growth in the American economy was volatile in 2015, 2016 and 2017 during 
each year, with quarter 1 being particularly weak.  The annual rate of GDP growth for 
2017 was 2.3%. Quarter 1 in 2018 came in at 2.0%, down from 2.9% in the previous 
quarter.  The Trump $1.5 trillion income tax cut package coming into effect in January 
2018, is likely to boost growth to the Trump administration’s 3% target.  However, it is 
also likely to boost inflation at a time when spare capacity in the economy is minimal 
and unemployment, in particular, has fallen to the lowest level for 17 years, reaching 
3.8% in May. The Fed has started on an upswing in rates with seven increases since 
the first one in December 2015, the latest one being in June 2018 to lift the central rate 
to 1.75 – 2.00%. There could be a further two or more increases in 2018. In October 
2017, the Fed became the first major western central bank to make a start on unwinding 
quantitative easing by phasing in a gradual reduction in respect of reinvesting maturing 
debt.

The background papers to this report are held within the Accountancy Section

Page 80



25

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX I 

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk 
Assessment

The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 June 
against the original budget set for the 2018/19 financial year, and illustrate how this 
affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the Council.

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Corporate Plan Objective Four: Sound and self-sufficient council

Crime and 
Disorder

No direct implications

Digital and 
website 
implications

No direct implications

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

No direct implications

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Budget Monitoring Q1 Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 8,534,710 8,419,160 8,670,270 8,657,660 8,874,070 9,095,910 9,323,360 9,556,470 9,795,380 10,040,240 10,040,240 

Vacancy allowance (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Salaries (Net) 8,184,710 8,069,160 8,320,270 8,307,660 8,524,070 8,745,910 8,973,360 9,206,470 9,445,380 9,690,240 9,690,240 

Temporary Staff 94,520 94,520 97,780 99,730 102,220 104,780 107,410 110,100 112,850 115,670 115,670 

Wages 97,810 97,810 219,240 101,050 103,570 106,150 228,810 111,540 114,340 117,200 117,200 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 2,015,370 1,985,110 2,055,490 2,097,810 2,150,350 2,204,150 2,259,250 2,315,780 2,373,730 2,433,660 2,433,660 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,493,210 1,516,510 1,515,280 1,499,390 1,516,960 1,495,510 1,496,560 1,497,640 1,498,750 1,499,890 1,500,080 

Running Expenses 9,319,930 10,826,520 10,822,570 11,319,880 11,235,080 11,453,570 11,579,050 11,877,700 11,852,540 12,162,090 12,211,220 

Capital Financing 1,323,930 1,323,930 1,604,500 1,319,850 1,280,450 1,275,670 1,257,220 1,210,120 1,225,480 1,206,260 1,206,260 

INCOME

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330)

Recharges to Other Accounts (224,520) (221,210) (174,440) (125,200) (84,490) (45,410) (13,690) 25,950 64,060 112,290 112,290 

Other Government Grants (2,194,630) (2,232,400) (2,030,040) (1,653,760) (1,674,720) (1,692,680) (1,710,990) (1,729,680) (1,748,730) (1,768,160) (1,768,160)

Investment Income (627,320) (627,320) (604,710) (333,970) (312,690) (380,470) (324,650) (327,290) (14,140) --   --   

Fees & Charges (6,642,170) (6,763,690) (6,702,080) (6,706,410) (6,714,740) (6,705,700) (6,704,910) (6,713,980) (6,706,320) (6,644,570) (6,644,570)

Rental Income (2,214,590) (3,355,560) (3,916,610) (3,980,480) (4,023,300) (4,062,560) (4,058,460) (4,098,800) (4,140,340) (4,183,130) (4,227,200)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves 609,770 387,270 15,000 (171,900) 222,100 335,100 406,100 465,100 595,100 331,100 331,100 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 1,035,980 1,185,980 452,460 365,590 366,360 471,000 451,000 432,000 432,000 432,000 432,000 

Parish Precepts 323,120 323,120 323,120 323,120 323,120 323,120 323,120 323,120 323,120 323,120 323,120 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 12,622,790 12,637,420 12,025,500 12,490,030 13,042,010 13,655,810 14,296,850 14,733,440 15,455,490 15,855,330 15,860,580 

Business Rates Income (3,679,110) (3,829,110) (3,134,600) (3,194,030) (3,254,640) (3,316,470) (3,379,530) (3,443,850) (3,509,330) (3,576,100) (3,576,100)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

Less: Passported Parish Grant (LSCT) 1,040 1,040 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

New Homes Bonus (586,760) (586,760) (452,460) (365,590) (366,360) (471,000) (451,000) (432,000) (432,000) (432,000) (432,000)

Council Tax Income (6,705,200) (6,705,200) (6,945,450) (7,126,780) (7,312,800) (7,503,930) (7,699,890) (7,901,100) (8,107,640) (8,319,580) (8,537,010)

Parish Precepts (323,120) (323,120) (323,120) (323,120) (323,120) (323,120) (323,120) (323,120) (323,120) (323,120) (323,120)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £2m (1,329,640) (1,329,640) (1,413,580) (1,724,220) (2,028,800) (535,970) (451,000) (432,000) (432,000) (432,000) (432,000)

--   (135,370) --   0 --   1,749,030 2,236,020 2,445,080 2,895,110 3,016,240 2,804,060 

--   --   --   0 (0) 1,749,030 486,990 209,060 450,030 121,130 (212,180)

Projected 

2027-28

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2026-27

Projected 

2019-20

Original 

2018-19

Projected 

2024-25

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2023-24

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2021-22

Projected 

2020-21

Projected 

2018-19

P
age 83



Budget Monitoring Q1 Appendix 2

2018-19      

Original

2018-19      

Projected

2019-20      

Original

2020-21      

Original

2021-22      

Original

2022-23      

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2026-27      

Original

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £1.25m Min) 6,055,450 6,055,450 6,047,160 5,086,040 3,727,410 2,064,970 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

New Homes Bonus 586,760 586,760 452,460 365,590 366,360 471,000 451,000 432,000 432,000 432,000 432,000

NNDR Income - Kent Pilot & Pool 449,220 449,220

NNDR Income - Q1 Projection re Kent Pilot 150,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF (1,329,640) (1,329,640) (1,413,580) (1,724,220) (2,028,800) (535,970) (451,000) (432,000) (432,000) (432,000) (432,000)

Transfer from Balances to equalise Council Tax - - - - - - - - - - -

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 5,761,790 5,911,790 5,086,040 3,727,410 2,064,970 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget - 135,370 - (0) - (1,749,030) (2,236,020) (2,445,080) (2,895,110) (3,016,240) (2,804,060)

GF Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £1.25m Min) 5,761,790 6,047,160 5,086,040 3,727,410 2,064,970 250,970 (1,985,050) (4,430,130) (7,325,240) (10,341,480) (13,145,540)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Spend to Save Reserve (incl. Digital Team) 148,220 157,460 159,560 161,660 163,760 165,860 167,960 170,060 172,160 174,260 176,360

Corporate Priorities Reserve 139,880 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770

Asset Enhancement Reserve 903,510 682,500 533,000 533,000 533,000 533,000 533,000 533,000 533,000 533,000 533,000

Planning Policy Reserve 393,470 443,470 493,470 543,470 593,470 643,470 693,470 743,470 793,470 843,470 893,470

Gravesham CAN Reserve - - - - - - - - - -

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,006,960 1,247,330 1,528,630 1,517,530 1,801,430 2,085,330 2,429,230 2,773,130 3,117,030 3,460,930 3,804,830

Decriminalisation (General) 42,240 42,240 42,240 42,240 42,240 42,240 42,240 42,240 42,240 42,240 42,240

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 90,990 98,490 110,990 99,490 111,990 124,490 107,990 120,490 132,990 145,490 157,990

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve 100,000 50,000 25,000 - - - - - - - -

Elections Reserve 149,410 166,870 46,870 76,870 106,870 136,870 46,870 76,870 106,870 136,870 166,870

IT Infrastructure Reserve 84,730 99,730 174,730 79,730 34,730 109,730 144,730 89,730 34,730 (20,270) (75,270)

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 559,010 780,360 1,001,710 1,223,060 1,444,410 1,665,760 1,887,110 2,108,460 2,329,810 2,551,160 2,772,510

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 500,000 529,440 529,440 529,440 529,440 529,440 529,440 529,440 529,440 529,440 529,440

Growth Fund Reserve 447,390 676,050 676,050 676,050 676,050 676,050 676,050 676,050 676,050 676,050 676,050

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000

Service Review Reserve 257,580 254,780 254,780 254,780 254,780 254,780 254,780 254,780 254,780 254,780 254,780

Playgrounds Reserve 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000

Woodville Repairs Reserve 57,250 114,500 171,750 229,000 286,250 343,500 400,750 458,000 515,250 572,500 629,750

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 11,523,840 12,351,560 11,795,440 10,654,910 9,604,570 8,522,670 6,889,750 5,106,770 2,873,760 519,620 (1,622,340)

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000

INCLUDED WITHIN THIS VERSION OF THE PLAN

Council Tax increase of 2.96% in 18-19, then £5 in 2019-20, and 2% thereafter.  Council Tax Base growth of 1.98% in 18-19, 0.60% annually thereafter.

Growth in salaries as per latest employers' offer 2018-19 & 2019-20. 2.5% annually thereafter - including pay award & incremental growth.

RSG as per Multi-year settlement offer.  NHB Scheme payments as per revised scheme announced December 2016.

Business Rates income based on actual projected income to be received, net of S31 Grants for busines rate relief initiatives (shown in Other Government Grant Line).

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year (i.e. 31 March)                                       

P
age 84



Housing Finance Associates HRA Business Planning Model Gravesham

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Description 2018.19 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28

Income

Gross Rental Income £25,915 £25,693 £26,839 £27,780 £28,549 £29,337 £30,147 £30,678 £31,218 £31,767

Void Losses -£324 -£321 -£335 -£347 -£357 -£367 -£377 -£383 -£390 -£397

Other Rental Income £33 £35 £36 £37 £38 £39 £41 £42 £43 £45

Tenanted Service Charges £1,239 £1,283 £1,324 £1,368 £1,413 £1,460 £1,508 £1,558 £1,609 £1,662

Leasehold Service Charges £245 £254 £262 £271 £280 £289 £298 £308 £318 £329

Non-Dwelling Income £327 £339 £350 £361 £373 £386 £398 £411 £425 £439

Grants £418 £418 £418 £418 £418 £418 £418 £418 £418 £418

Other Income £112 £115 £117 £120 £122 £125 £128 £131 £134 £137

Total income £27,966 £27,815 £29,011 £30,008 £30,836 £31,688 £32,562 £33,163 £33,776 £34,400

Expenditure

General Management -£5,943 -£6,231 -£6,431 -£6,643 -£6,862 -£7,089 -£7,323 -£7,564 -£7,814 -£8,072

Special Management -£667 -£691 -£713 -£737 -£761 -£786 -£812 -£839 -£867 -£895

Other Management £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

RRSL Penalty £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Bad Debt Provision -£292 -£290 -£303 -£313 -£322 -£331 -£340 -£346 -£352 -£358

Responsive & Cyclical Repairs -£7,022 -£7,804 -£7,975 -£8,159 -£8,346 -£8,538 -£8,735 -£8,936 -£9,141 -£9,351

Other revenue expenditure £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Total expenditure -£13,924 -£15,016 -£15,422 -£15,852 -£16,292 -£16,744 -£17,210 -£17,685 -£18,174 -£18,677

Capital financing costs

Interest paid -£2,371 -£2,351 -£2,012 -£1,972 -£1,960 -£1,920 -£1,882 -£1,874 -£1,914 -£1,979

Debt management expenses -£48 -£48 -£48 -£48 -£48 -£48 -£48 -£48 -£48 -£48

Interest Received £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Depreciation -£6,814 -£6,849 -£6,907 -£6,935 -£6,935 -£6,940 -£6,946 -£6,951 -£6,957 -£6,963

Capital financing costs -£9,232 -£9,248 -£8,966 -£8,955 -£8,942 -£8,908 -£8,876 -£8,873 -£8,919 -£8,990

Appropriations

Revenue provision (HRA CFR) -£4,101 -£4,738 -£1,597 -£1,584 -£1,559 -£1,527 -£1,497 -£1,467 -£1,484 -£1,530

RCCO £0 -£181 -£3,612 -£3,610 -£2,644 -£2,099 -£7,860 -£6,094 -£5,217 -£5,210

Other appropriations £0 £1,254 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Appropriations -£4,101 -£3,665 -£5,209 -£5,193 -£4,202 -£3,626 -£9,357 -£7,561 -£6,701 -£6,740

Net income/ (expenditure) £709 -£114 -£587 £8 £1,400 £2,409 -£2,881 -£955 -£18 -£7

HRA Balance

Opening Balance £3,000 £3,709 £3,595 £3,008 £3,016 £4,416 £6,825 £3,944 £2,989 £2,971

Generated in year £709 -£1,368 -£587 £8 £1,400 £2,409 -£2,881 -£955 -£18 -£7

Appropriated in £0 £1,254 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Appropriated out £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Closing Balance £3,709 £3,595 £3,008 £3,016 £4,416 £6,825 £3,944 £2,989 £2,971 £2,964

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 845 08/09/17 28/08/18 UBS AG Maturity 0.4700% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 849 03/11/17 02/11/18 Cooperative Rabobank U.A Maturity 0.6800% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 853 12/04/18 11/04/19 Cooperative Rabobank U.A Maturity 0.9800% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 854 14/06/18 14/09/18 Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe 
Ltd

Maturity 0.6200% -5,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 855A 15/06/18 17/09/18 Standard Chartered Bank Maturity 0.5800% -4,600,000.00

Deposit Fixed 855B 15/06/18 17/09/18 Standard Chartered Bank Maturity 0.5800% -400,000.00

Fixed Total 0.6293% -14,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.5047% -4,848,142.00

Deposit MMF Ignis MMF 31/05/17 SLI Sterling Liquidity/Cl 3 Maturity 0.4802% -248,000.00

MMF Total 0.5035% -5,096,142.00

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 4.5814% -2,692,695.00

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 3.8993% -1,926,642.27

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 4.5814% -521,985.00

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 6.5426% -5,352,830.05

Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 21.1926% -1,960,580.64

Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -2,862,421.21

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 22.4207% -4,879,725.09

VNAV Fund Total 10.3094% -20,196,879.25

Deposit Total 5.5886% -39,293,021.25

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -39,293,021.25

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, NEW - Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 30/06/2018

Page 1 of 1Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 08/08/18 18:40

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Part A
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11 September 2018

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Update 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 July 2018. 

Recommendations:
Members note the outputs and performance of the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham 
for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 July 2018 as detailed at Appendix two. 

1. Background

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief 
audit executive must report periodically to senior management and the board on 
the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority, responsibility and performance 
relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk exposures and 
control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed 
or requested by senior management and the board.

2. Update report 

2.1 The report at Appendix 2 is the first of three updates to be produced during 2018-
19; detailing the work undertaken by the Audit & Counter Fraud Team between 01 
April and 31 July and the progress made against the annual workplan.

2.2 As per a request from Members at the June Finance & Audit Committee, section 7 
of the report has been expanded to include more detail relating to outstanding 
recommendations. An additional table has also been included to detail 
recommendations that are still outstanding more than six months after their 
agreed implementation date; along with an update from the service in question. 

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Nil 

Page 89 Agenda Item 9



2

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible for 
establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has delegated 
this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal 
audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government Application 
Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources in 
delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have an 
adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a key 
source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its internal 
control arrangements.  

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality Impact 
Assessment

Question Answer Explanation

a. Does the decision being 
made or recommended 
through this paper have 
potential to cause 
adverse impact or 
discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community?

No No impact

b. Does the decision being 
made or recommended 
through this paper make 
a positive contribution to 
promoting equality?

No No impact

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above?

N/A

4.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have given 
due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted in the 
table above

Page 90



Corporate Business 
Plan

The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Objective 4: Sound & self-sufficient council. 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators (PI141) and is therefore reported to the public via the 
council’s Annual Report published on the council’s website. 

The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/a

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 27

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Update 

Gravesham Borough Council
For the period:

1 April 2018 – 31 July 2018

Page 93



Page 2 of 27

1. Introduction
1.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council was 

established on 1 March 2016. The team provides internal audit assurance and consultancy, proactive 
counter fraud and reactive investigation services, and the Single Point of Contact between both 
authorities and the Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of 
Benefits Fraud.  

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief audit executive must 
report periodically to senior management and the board on the internal audit activity’s purpose, 
authority, responsibility and performance relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk 
exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed or 
requested by senior management and the board.

2. Independence
2.1. The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter was approved by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 

2018 and sets out the purpose, authority and responsibility of the team. The Charter sets out the 
arrangements to ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to 
senior management and Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from 
operational responsibility and do not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement.  The 
work of the team during the period covered by this report has been free from any inappropriate 
restriction or influence from senior officers and/or Members. 

2.2. Given its responsibilities for counter-fraud activities, the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service cannot 
provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities of either council. Instead independent 
assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought from an external supplier of audit 
services on a periodic basis. 

3. Resources
3.1. The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway Council 

and Gravesham Borough Council.  The team has an establishment of 14 officers (13.5FTE) consisting of; 
the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud, three Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders, eight Audit & 
Counter Fraud Officers (one post currently vacant), one audit & Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst and 
one Audit & Counter Fraud Assistant, following a restructure in early 2018.    

3.2. The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 
councils, approximately 36% for Gravesham with the remaining 64% for Medway. At the time the Audit 
& Counter Fraud Plans for 2018-19 were prepared, this establishment was forecasted to provide a total 
of 1,834 days available for audit and counter fraud work (net of allowances for leave, training, 
management, administration etc.)  The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham was prepared with a 
resource budget of 660 days. 

3.3. Net staff days available for Gravesham for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 July 2018 amounted to 174 days 
and 152 days (87%) were spent on productive audit and counter fraud work. Of this productive time, 
54% was spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, while 46% was spent on counter fraud and 
investigations work.  The current status and results of all work carried out are detailed at section 4 of 
this report.  

Page 94



Page 3 of 27

3.4. Staff sickness and an unexpected vacancy has impacted on the level of resources available and one 
Audit & Counter Fraud Officer will be taking flexible retirement from 01 September 2018. This has 
resulted in a net loss of approximately 67 days from the original resource budget of 660 days for 
Gravesham. Plans to address the issue are detailed in section six of this report.

3.5. Recruitment for the vacant Audit & Counter Fraud Officer post will take place during August with an 
anticipated start date in October 2018 dependent on references and notice periods.

4. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work 
4.1. The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2018-19 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit 

Committee in March 2018. The Plan is intended to provide a clear picture of how the council will use the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, reflecting all work to be carried out by the team for Gravesham 
during the financial year including the council’s core finance and governance arrangements, operational 
assurance work, proactive counter fraud work, responsive investigations and consultancy services. 

4.2. The tables below provide details of the work from 2017-18 that has been finalised in 2018-19, the 
progress of work undertaken as part of the 2018-19 annual plan and the results of investigative work 
completed during the period.    

Page 95



Page 4 of 27

2017-18 Internal Audit Assurance work completed in 2018-19 (since the last Audit Committee meeting) 

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

8 Creditors 10 13.8 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Key controls are in place for the effective management of the creditors 
system.
Appropriate controls are in place to ensure that all creditors have a unique reference 
number that the correct payment is made and that adequate evidence is held to 
support these payments. 
A weakness was identified in relation to the raising of purchase orders within services, 
with 26 of the 96 invoices included in the sample testing found not to have a relevant 
purchase order. The automated invoicing system that is due to be introduced is 
reliant on purchase orders being in place, so any continued failure to raise purchase 
orders would result in the need for manual intervention , which in turn may impact on 
predicted resource savings.
Audit testing undertaken in relation to the 96 invoices confirmed that all had been 
authorised for payment by officers with an appropriate authorisation limit. 
It is acknowledged that the introduction of the Automated Invoicing system will lead 
to an inbuilt authorisation process that occurs at the time the purchase order is 
raised, thereby removing the need for an authorised signatory list as invoices will no 
longer be authorised in hard copy. Opinion: Amber
RMO2 – Key controls are in place for the effective management of petty cash.
Petty cash floats are maintained within individual Directorates and recorded on the 
Imprest system with the officer responsible for the float retaining any vouchers and 
associated receipts. When requests are passed to Exchequer services for floats to be 
replenished, officers pass on details of the expenditure along with the associated 
receipts but do not routinely include details of the remaining balance they hold, which 
presents a risk that the floats may exceed their limit. 
Petty cash is routinely limited to a maximum payment of £25 and the authorised 
signatory list details which officers are permitted to authorise petty cash payments.  It 
is acknowledged that some Directors have a higher petty cash authorisation level.
While there are adequate procedures in place, testing has identified that these 
procedures are not always being followed in relation to petty cash claims and the 
issues identified, such as Managers authorising their own petty cash claims and those 
of close relatives, and officers signing claims that did not have authority to do so or 

P
age 96



Page 5 of 27

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

exceeded their authorisation limit, also demonstrate a control weakness that exposes 
the council to a risk of fraud.  
The removal of petty cash floats and a switch to processing expense claims through 
the HR SelfServe4You system may provide better value for money to the authority in 
the form of efficiency savings and would also provide a means of electronic 
verification. This reduces the potential for fraud as claims could only be authorised by 
managers who have been set as having delegated authority within the system and 
could be processed alongside other expenses such as claims for business mileage. Any 
recommendations into existing processes would still be relevant until any such change 
in process was agreed by Management Team. Opinion: Red
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Three high, two medium and one low 
priority.
Recommendations relate to appropriate staff being reminded of the need to raise 
purchase orders in relation to all purchases, Managers being reminded that invoices 
for goods and services should not be paid via petty cash, that petty cash claims 
should not be authorised by Managers who do not have appropriate authorisation 
or are above their limit, Managers not authorising their own or close relatives petty 
cash claims, float holders being reminded to include remaining balances on the 
information provided to Exchequer Services and Management Team considering the 
removal of petty cash and switching the processing of expenses through the HR 
SelfServe4You system.

15 Borough Market – 
Income 

10 13.9 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements for the collection and banking of market income are in place.
The review found that within the Gravesend borough Market there are 22 permanent 
units, in addition to space for a number of temporary stalls. The standard rents for 
both permanent and temporary pitches have been set and are provided on the 
market website, though it was noted that these have yet to be reviewed. 
Arrangements exist for deposits to be collected from all permanent stallholders and 
audit testing confirmed that these arrangements are working well in practice, though 
several instances were identified in which deposit invoices had incorrectly been raised 
inclusive of VAT. Procedures are also in place for monthly debtor invoices to be 
automatically raised to collect rent from permanent stallholders. While recovery 
action is taken in respect of unpaid invoices; audit testing identified inconsistencies in 

P
age 97



Page 6 of 27

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

relation to the number of outstanding invoices, or the level of debt before further 
recovery steps were taken. 
Temporary stallholders pay via cash on the day of attendance. This is collected by the 
Market Operative and is deposited in a safe with restricted access; appropriate 
insurance cover is in place for the level of cash collected.   Arrangements are in place 
for cash to be banked in an appropriate manner and recorded on the General Ledger; 
however improvements are needed in relation to record keeping. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Five medium priority.
Recommendations relate to enhancing procedures for the agreement and review of 
pitch fees, applying the correct VAT treatment for deposit invoices, ensuring 
consistent recovery procedures are followed, and ensuring that comprehensive 
records are retained of all cash payments received.

22 Business Continuity 10 7.3 Final Report 
Issued

The review was due to consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to ensure each service has a updated and 
relevant Business Continuity Plan in place. 
However, due to the significant changes taking place, consultancy work was 
conducted and concluded the following:
The council is reviewing its Corporate and service level Business Continuity Plan 
arrangements, to ensure it is able to meet its statutory responsibilities and ensure 
that staff can put the plans into practice.  Effective Business Continuity Planning will 
enable the council to act quickly and decisively at the outset of the incident and 
manage risks to any loss of service.  While the Corporate BCP requires updating and 
testing, evidence is available to show services update their BCP’s on an annual basis. 
To demonstrate BCP’s are effective more evidence is required to show the plans are 
tested and will achieve their objectives.   
Moves are currently afoot to remedy this with Senior Management taking steps to 
improve business continuity planning across the organisation. With managers already 
familiar with completion of service risk registers, the intention is to take this process a 
step further to align the BCP alongside the Risk Registers and Business Plans. Once 
fully tested the Service BCPs can be used as the basis for a Corporate BCP, pulling all 
the threads together and forming a complete package with the Emergency Planning 
and Business Recovery documents. 
This will enable Gravesham to face any major incident confidently and with clearly 

P
age 98



Page 7 of 27

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

defined role responsibilities for senior management, a clear process to cascade 
information both internally and externally and with staff able to understand their, 
potentially revised, roles until business recovery is completed and a full and usual 
service resumed.
Recommendations: One high, two medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to a redesign of the BCP template, a programme of 
learning for managers & staff, an audit trail being incorporated into the BCP and key 
essential services being identified.

26 Housing Revenue 
Account Building 
Management – 
Compliancy

10 18 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – The council has arrangements in place to ensure the required safety checks 
are carried out on HRA properties so that the council meets its duties as a Landlord.
The review found that responsibility for ensuring safety checks are carried out has 
been appropriately allocated and the team is fully aware of the checks that need to be 
undertaken. Contracts exist for all types of safety check, which contain some KPIs, 
however data is not currently collected for Electrical Testing although arrangements 
are now in place to commence the collection of this data. 
Appropriate servicing programmes are in place, with safety checks carried out at 
various intervals. Servicing data has now been uploaded on to the servicing module of 
the management system, Oneserve to automate the servicing programmes from 1 
April 2018. 
Monitoring data available at the time of audit found that 100 per cent compliancy is 
achieved for the majority of programmes, however statistics indicated a shortfall in 
compliancy for the domestic through floor lifts bi-annual programme and the annual 
programme for stair lifts, which we were advised is due to access issues.  
Certifications and documentation is held on the Keystone asset management 
database, testing identified omissions in relation certificates being held on the system 
and opportunities to utilise automated reports were noted
Budget monitoring has previously relied upon an internal spreadsheet which indicated 
some discrepancies to the figures on Civica, however budget holders now have 
responsibility for their own budgets and have received training. They have also been 
made aware that for reporting purposes, Finance will only consider what has gone 
through the general ledger on Civica.
There are 437 leasehold properties, which we were advised could present a potential 

P
age 99



Page 8 of 27

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

risk should the council be unable to demonstrate that it has taken action to ensure 
that leaseholders carry out the relevant safety checks on their properties. Opinion: 
Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two high, two medium and three low 
priority.
Recommendations relate to enhancement of processes for tackling access issues 
which prevent checks from being carried out, ensuring the electrical contract 
contains KPIs which are regularly monitored, investigating methods of ensuring 
safety compliance in leasehold properties, reviewing processes for budget 
monitoring, ensuring certificates are stored appropriately and streamlining 
processes for monitoring failed checks.

28 Void Property 
Management & Re-
let

15 11.7 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Appropriate arrangements exist for void property management and re-let.
There are numerous teams and systems in place dealing with different elements of 
the re-let process and it was noted that no policy or procedure notes exist. It has been 
identified that there is not a consistent approach to various elements of the process; 
which in turn means that inconsistent information is being recorded on each system, 
if recorded at all. 
A shared spreadsheet logging void properties exists but is not being regularly updated 
by every team to identify where a void property sits within the process, meaning it 
cannot be utilised as a live document. 
The council’s lettable standard is under review and expected to be in place by August 
2018.  
While the authority has significantly improved the turnaround time in recent months, 
some elements of the process are duplicated or out of date. A review of the end to 
end process to a streamlined process that reduces financial costs through efficiency 
savings.
Performance statistics are maintained by both the voids team and housing allocations 
although these focus on different areas of performance, they do provide an end to 
end performance picture. 
Not all Housing Officers record viewing arrangements for void properties or the 
outcomes of those viewings. It has been indicated that this may be a consequence of 
officers not knowing how the system works, suggesting that there may be a training 
issue. Opinion: Amber.

P
age 100



Page 9 of 27

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two high and three medium priority.
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a Voids Policy which includes 
procedure notes, amending the tenancy handbook to include basic repairs that 
tenants are expected to complete, ensuring all recording methods are updated 
regularly to ensure records of every element of the process are correct, a review of 
the re-let process and refresher training for officers on use of the Locata system.

2018-19 Internal Audit Assurance work 

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Core governance and financial systems assurance work
1 Finalisation of 2017-

18 planned work
25 24.9 Complete Allowance to finalise work from the 2017-18 plan not completed as at 31 March 2018.

2 Performance 
Management

5 1 Complete A&CF Officers have worked with the Corporate Performance team to verify the 2017-
18 corporate performance information reported. 

3 Corporate & Business 
Planning

10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

4 Performance 
Management 
Framework

10 N/A Terms of 
Reference 
being 
prepared

N/A

5 Ethics 15 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - All council employees behave with integrity, demonstrate strong 
commitment to ethical values and respect the rule of the law.    

6 General ledger 10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

7 Bad Debt Provision 15 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

8 NNDR Recovery 15 N/A Draft report 
with client for 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Appropriate arrangements are in place for the collection of unpaid business 

P
age 101



Page 10 of 27

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

consideration rates.

9 VAT 10 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway 

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Adequate procedures are in place for identifying, processing and accounting 
for VAT.

10 Financial statements 
preparation

15 N/A Terms of 
Reference 
being 
prepared

N/A

11 Grant payments 10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

12 Responsive 
assurance work

8 N/A Not yet 
started

No requests for responsive assurance work have been received during this period. 

Corporate risks assurance work
13 IT Strategy & 

implementation
10 N/A Terms of 

Reference 
being 
prepared

N/A

14 Use of Bailiffs 10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

15 Procurement 
compliance

10 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Appropriate procedures relating to contracts procured via South East 
Consortium are in place.

16 Refunds 10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

17 Write Offs 15 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

18 Counter Fraud 5 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

19 General Data 15 N/A Not yet N/A

P
age 102



Page 11 of 27

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Protection 
Regulation

started

20 Homelessness 15 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

21 Establishment 
Management

15 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objectives:

RMO1 - The council’s establishment is appropriately managed.
RMO2 - The council’s salaries budget is appropriately managed.  

22 Staff Performance 
Management 
Framework

10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

23 Manual Handling 10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

24 Tenancy 
Enforcement

15 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

25 Rent Deposit Scheme 10 N/A Fieldwork 
completed, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Arrangements exist to distribute rent deposits
RMO2 – Arrangements exist to recover all rent deposits

26 Repairs & 
Maintenance 
Supplies 
Management

15 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

Counter Fraud Assurance Work
27 Housing Allocations 15 N/A Not yet 

started
N/A

28 Residents Parking 
Permits

15 N/A Fieldwork 
completed, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Adequate procedures are in place to prevent residential parking permit 
fraud.

P
age 103



Page 12 of 27

Counter Fraud Activity

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

30 Pro-active 
investigations work

29 N/A Underway A pro-active drive reviewing all council tax accounts with full student exemptions was 
commenced in March 2018. The exercise involved scrutiny of all student certificates 
supplied in order to confirm that they were genuine. Approx. 90 accounts were 
reviewed with nine identified as having potential discrepancies, which were passed 
for further investigation. 
Investigations linked to the exercise that have been concluded have led to additional 
council tax of £6,381.40* being owed and an additional £3,517.57* in future years 
where the exemptions will no longer apply. Two investigations remain ongoing.
*please note that these figures relate to the exercise itself, which crosses financial years, and 
are not in addition to the sums reported as part of performance indicator A&CF20. 

31 Data matching 
exercises, including 
National Fraud 
Initiative and Kent 
Intelligence Network

29 N/A Underway No further matching has been undertaken by the KIN at this time, however, data 
matching for small business rate relief has taken place with a company called Destin 
Solutions. The matches received are being reviewed and investigations will be 
undertaken where appropriate.
Software recently purchased for corporate view of debt can potentially be utilised for 
internal data matching and this will be explored further in the coming months.
Submissions for the 2018-19 National Fraud Initiative exercise are scheduled to take 
place in October, with results likely to be received in January 2019.

32 Fraud awareness 10 N/A Not yet 
started

No fraud awareness training undertaken during the period.

Reactive Investigations work: external investigations

Area Number of cases 
concluded Summary of results

Council Tax 23 Cases linked to fraudulent discounts and exemptions have identified additional Council Tax liabilities with a 
total value of £3,247.98 (of which Gravesham Borough Council’s share is £389.76). They have also identified 
additional liability of £2,397.82 for future years. One civil penalty of £70 has also been applied as a result.

Housing Allocations 2 While two cases linked to housing allocations have been closed, neither identified any evidence of fraud.

Tenancy 5 Cases linked to tenancy fraud, primarily involving abandonment or sub-letting have led to the recovery of 

P
age 104



Page 13 of 27

Area Number of cases 
concluded Summary of results

one property with a notional saving of £18,000 attached.

Reactive Investigations work: internal investigations
Allegation Investigation activity & recommendations

No investigations undertaken in this period. 

Other consultancy services including advice & information
Client service area Services provided

Town Centre Redevelopment Proposal -  
Financial Analysis

A thorough examination was undertaken of the accuracy of formulae within a spreadsheet prepared by 
Gravesham Borough Council to assess the financial viability of the proposal.

Corporate Debt Project One of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders is part of a project group overseeing implementation of a 
system to provide a corporate view of debt. 

Automated Invoicing Two of the Audit & Counter Fraud Officers are part of the project group overseeing implementation of the 
Creditors automated invoicing system.

Interreg  France (Channel) England Go Trade 
Project 

One of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leader has been appointed and is undertaking the role of First 
Level Controller for Gravesham Borough Council’s part in this project. 

P
age 105



Page 14 of 27

5. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 
5.1. The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance 

and improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance 
& Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement.  The Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service QAIP was agreed by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 2018. 

5.2. The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 
performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management 
processes.  It should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent 
data quality verification. 

5.3. In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 24 performance indicators based 
on the balanced scorecard, covering the four perspectives; financial, internal process, learning & growth 
and customer.  The table below sets out the performance targets, which are grouped into measures for 
the service and those that are specific to the individual authority. Targets have been set for 17 of the 24 
indicators, however it should be noted that these are for full year outturns; as such outturns at present 
are not to target levels but are provided for Members information.  

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements 

A&CF1 Cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud Service 
a) Total Cost
b) LA Share

N/A
£560,257
£201,693

A&CF2 Cost per A&CF day £400 £305
A&CF3 Proportion of staff with relevant professional 

qualification:
a) Relevant audit qualification
b) Relevant counter fraud qualification

75%

21%
57%

A&CF4 Proportion of non-qualified staff undertaking 
professional qualification training  

25% 0%

A&CF5 Time spent on CPD/non-professional 
qualification training, learning & development

70 days 11 days

A&CF6 Compliance with PSIAS 100% The External Quality Assessment 
(EQA) conducted in February 2018 
was positive with performance in line 
with or above that of other local 
authorities as per benchmarking; 
however, it did not provide a 
percentage of compliance.
Our December 2017 self- assessment 
showed full compliance with 94% of 
the standards, partial compliance with 
a further 3% and work required to 
address the remaining 3%. 
An action plan has been formed to 
deal with the recommendations from 

Page 106



Page 15 of 27

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period

the external assessment and a refresh 
of the self-assessment will take place 
later in the year to confirm the 
percentage compliance.

A&CF7 Staff turnover N/A While there have been no 
resignations, an internal candidate 
was successful in the recruitment for a 
new Audit & Counter Fraud Team 
Leader. As a consequence, we are in 
the process of recruiting a 
replacement Audit & Counter Fraud 
Officer to fill the last remaining 
vacancy.  

LA Specific Performance Measurements 

A&CF8 Average cost per assurance review £5,000  £3,727

A&CF9 Proportion of available resources spent on 
productive work 

90% 87%

A&CF10 Proportion of productive time spent on:
a) assurance work
b) consultancy work

65%
50%
4%

A&CF11 Proportion of productive time spent on: 
a) proactive counter fraud work 
b) reactive counter fraud work 

35%
5%
41%

A&CF12 Proportion of agreed assurance assignments:
a) Delivered
b) Underway

95%
12%
16%

A&CF13 Proportion of assignments completed within 
allocated day budget

90% N/A no 2018-19 audits finalised

A&CF14 Proportion of completed reviews subject to a 
second stage (senior management) quality 
control check in addition to the primary quality 
control review

10% N/A no 2018-19 audits finalised

A&CF15 Proportion of recommended actions agreed by 
client management

90% 100%

A&CF16 Number of recommendations agreed that are:
a) not yet due
b) Implemented
c) Outstanding

N/A
23
30
20

A&CF17 Proportion of recommended actions 
implemented by agreed date

N/A 60%

A&CF18 Number of referrals received N/A 20

A&CF19 Number of investigations closed N/A 30

A&CF20 Value of fraud losses identified, by fraud type 
a) cashable (losses that can be recovered)

N/A
Total: £5,715.80

Page 107



Page 16 of 27

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period

b) non-cashable (notional savings based on 
national estimates)

£3,247.98 Council Tax (proportion 
retained by Gravesham: £132.22)
£2,397.82 additional Council Tax for 
future years (proportion retained by 
Gravesham: £115.68)
£70 – one civil penalty imposed

£18,000 – one council property 
recovered

A&CF21 Customer satisfaction with individual 
review/assignment

95% 100% (based on three reviews 
received in period)

A&CF22 Customer satisfaction with overall service 95% Survey has not yet been issued.

A&CF23 Member satisfaction with assurance provided 
(based on Chair of Audit Committee 
contribution to Appraisal of the Head of Audit & 
Counter Fraud role)

Positive N/A – The mid-year review for the 
Head of Audit & Counter Fraud has 
not yet taken place.

A&CF24 Statement of external audit Positive External Audit report by exception.
The Audit Plan for 2017-18 from Grant 
Thornton raises no concerns in 
relation to the work of internal audit. 

6. Review of Audit & Counter Fraud Plan
6.1 Monitoring of the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual officer time 

recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks the 
performance of the team against the shared service work-plan as a whole and enables the supervisory 
staff to plan and support officers to deliver their individual work plans. On at least a quarterly basis, a 
projection of the resources that will be available to the year end is carried out and compared to 
forecasts for each item of work on the plan to be completed. 

6.2 All audit reviews scheduled for Q1 have commenced and all bar one of those scheduled for Q2 has at 
least commenced the planning stage, so the plan is on track at this time.

6.3 As mentioned at paragraph 3.4, there has been a loss of resource created by sickness, a vacancy and the 
flexible retirement of one employee that was unknown at the time the original budget was calculated. 
This projects a loss of 67 days from the original projection of 660 days, which will mean that 
amendments to the plan are likely to be necessary. However, we are not proposing to reduce the 
number of audit reviews at this time. Some time savings are likely in the event that scheduled reviews 
do not use all of their planned days, the projections include allowances for staff sickness that may not 
occur and there may be some non-statutory elements of the service that can have their allocations 
reduced to compensate if necessary.

6.4 We must ensure that an adequate level of work can be completed in order to deliver the Council’s 
annual assurance statement. The resource budget is being monitored continually to take account of any 
unpredicted changes that impact on resource. In the event that the impact does require changes to the 

Page 108



Page 17 of 27

number of assurance reviews, these proposed changes will be brought to the committee for approval 
but we do not want to take this approach unless absolutely necessary.

7. Follow up of agreed recommendations
7.1 Where the work of the team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, 

governance and/or control arrangements, the team make and agree recommendations for 
improvement with service managers.  The Standards require that a follow-up process is established: to 
monitor and ensure that management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior 
management has accepted the risk of not taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be 
prioritised based on risk.

7.2 It was agreed that service managers will be asked to provide an update on action taken towards 
implementing all recommendations agreed, but they will also be asked to supply evidence to confirm 
the action stated and the Audit & Counter Fraud Team will verify this.  In addition, recommendations 
made as part of proactive and reactive counter fraud work will be incorporated into the follow up 
process to ensure action is taken to address fraud risks identified.  The results of follow up are reported 
to the council’s Management Team on a quarterly basis.  

7.3 The first of the two tables below details the current position in relation to the follow up process and the 
second details recommendations that are now more than six months over their planned implementation 
date; along with an update from the relevant Service Manager/Assistant Director/Director.

Page 109



Page 18 of 27

Status of Agreed Recommendations
Audit & Counter Fraud 

Review title
Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority 

agreed with management

Proportion of recommendations due for implementation 
where a positive management response has been 

received
Planning Enforcement Opinion: Amber

Seven recommendations agreed: three high, three medium and one 
low priority. 
Recommendations related to the publication of policy and guidance 
on the council’s website and the development of procedure notes 
for staff, improving arrangements to monitor planning conditions, 
prioritising investigations of reports received and introducing 
specific arrangements to ensure all staff declare any interests.

Seven recommendations due, six implemented.
One high priority recommendation outstanding relating to 
improving arrangements to monitor planning conditions.   

Section 106 Agreements  
& Other Planning 
Obligations  

Opinion: Amber
Five recommendations agreed: three high and two low priority. 
Recommendations related to improving consistency of 
Management Team reports requesting changes to the 
establishment, ensuring appropriate formal agreements are in place 
where external contracted staff are used, and ensuring the salaries 
budget and information held by HR/payroll are regularly reconciled.  

Five recommendations due, four implemented.
One high priority recommendation outstanding relating to 
an appropriate mechanism being put in place for 
monitoring planning obligations. 

Council Tax Discounts, 
Disregards & 
Exemptions

Opinion: Amber
Five recommendations agreed: three high, one medium and one low 
priority.
Recommendations were made to ensure that applications are 
completed and evidence checked in respect of all discounts, 
disregards and exemptions and that reviews are undertaken in a 
timely manner. Recommendations were also made to ensure that 
procedure notes are up to date and audit trails are maintained.

Five recommendations due, five implemented.

Private Housing 
Enforcement

Opinion: Amber
Three recommendations agreed: one high and two medium priority.
Recommendations related to appropriate records being maintained 
for PI15, the updating of the private housing enforcement policy 
and gaining understanding of whether Category two and non-urgent 
service requests are being handled in a timely manner.

Three recommendations due, two implemented.
One medium priority recommendation outstanding 
relating to the updating of the private housing 
enforcement policy.

P
age 110



Page 19 of 27

Homelessness Opinion: Green
Three recommendations agreed: Two medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations related to ensuring that the council’s 
homelessness strategy is up to date, ensuring that temporary 
accommodation placements are appropriately authorised, and 
setting a budget to monitor bed & breakfast expenditure

Three recommendations due, two implemented. 
One medium priority recommendation outstanding 
relating to ensuring that the council’s homelessness 
strategy is up to date. 

Strategic Asset 
Management

Opinion: Amber
Six recommendations agreed: three high and three medium priority. 
Recommendations related to the updating and approval of existing 
policies and the council’s Constitution, arrangements for ensuring 
that records held by Finance and property Services align, ensuring 
that the council is making best use of the system currently used for 
maintaining its asset register, and the updating and approval of an 
existing policy.

Five recommendations due, five implemented. 

Capital Planned Works 
Management

Opinion: Green
One recommendation agreed: one low priority. 
The recommendation related to more effective use of the council 
website and social media.

One recommendation due, one outstanding.
Recommendation relates to more effective use of the 
council website and social media

NNDR Reliefs Opinion: Amber
Six recommendations agreed: three high, one medium and two low 
priority. 
Recommendations related to information available on the councils 
website, discretionary rate relief criteria, use of application forms & 
declaration statements, and processes for determining charitable 
status and rate reliefs.

Six recommendations due, four implemented. 
Two high priority recommendations outstanding relating to 
processes for determining charitable status and rate reliefs 
and a process to review all rate relief.  

Business Continuity (IT) Opinion: Red
Four recommendations agreed: two high and two medium priority. 
Recommendations related to regular reviews of the IT continuity 
plan and overarching business continuity plan, training for staff 
involved with implementing the plan and testing of backup servers 
and generators.  

Four recommendations due, three implemented.
One high priority recommendation outstanding relating to 
regular reviews of the IT continuity plan and overarching 
business continuity plan. 

P
age 111



Page 20 of 27

Prevention of 
Procurement Fraud

Opinion: Amber
Four recommendations agreed: one high and three medium priority. 
Recommendations related to updating the Procurement Strategy, 
reviewing and formalising arrangements to secure procurement 
advice, strengthening controls to ensure all procurement activity 
specifically excludes suppliers convicted of fraud, bribery or 
corruption and ensuring transparency data is published in full on a 
timely basis.

Four recommendations due, four implemented. 

Right to Buy Opinion: Amber 
Eight recommendations agreed: five high and three medium 
priority. 
Recommendations related to the introduction of secondary 
application forms, money laundering questionnaires, updates to the 
housing business plan, ID verification for all applicants, un-notified 
visits to all applicants, written procedures covering the verification 
process, the introduction of an enforcement policy and publicity of 
any positive actions taken in respect of right to buy fraud.
One recommendation rejected, relating to the introduction of an 
enforcement policy. This is to be incorporated into verification 
procedures instead.

Eight recommendations due, eight implemented. 

Payroll Opinion: Amber 
Four recommendations agreed: one high and three medium priority. 
Recommendations related to signing of the Payroll contract, General 
Ledger reconciliation and receipt of reports from Medway Council to 
provide assurance on the service received.

Four recommendations due, four implemented. 

Housing Rents Opinion: Amber 
Four recommendations agreed: two high and two medium priority. 
Recommendations related to discussions on the use of Enforcement 
Officers to recover former tenant arears; further measures to 
ensure that Direct Debits are collected in a timely manner; updating 
the procedure documents supporting the recovery of current and 
former tenant arrears; and, making details of the rent balance 
tracker available on the back of all rent arrears letters.

Four recommendations due, three implemented.
One high priority recommendation outstanding relating to 
discussions on the use of Enforcement Officers to recover 
former tenant arears

P
age 112



Page 21 of 27

Use of Council Vehicles Opinion: Amber
Seven recommendations agreed: one high, one medium and five 
low priority. 
Recommendations related to a policy with a definition of acceptable 
use, monitoring of fuel, use of council vehicles by officers from 
shared services, monitoring of tracker data on fleet vehicles, 
recording of mileage incurred using lease pool vehicles and the cost 
effectiveness of lease pool vehicles.

Seven recommendations due, two implemented. 
One medium and four low priority recommendations 
outstanding relating to use of council vehicles by officers 
from shared services, monitoring of tracker data on fleet 
vehicles, recording of mileage incurred using lease pool 
vehicles and the cost effectiveness of lease pool vehicles

Corporate Governance Opinion: Amber
Two recommendations agreed: one high and one medium priority. 
Recommendations relate to completion of a planned review of the 
Constitution and ensuring up to date counter fraud policies are 
provided on the council’s website. 
One high priority recommendation rejected relating to formalising 
arrangements to monitor completion of improvements identified via 
the AGS. 

One recommendation due, one implemented. 

Risk Management 
Framework

Opinion: Amber
Three recommendations agreed: two medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to ensuring that service risk registers are 
fully completed, ensuring roles and responsibilities are clear and 
ensuring an appropriate link between corporate and service level 
risk management processes. 
One medium priority recommendation rejected relating to staff 
guidance on the risk register template. 

Two recommendations due, two implemented.

IT Security – User Access 
Controls 

Opinion: Amber
Four recommendations agreed: one high and three medium priority. 
Recommendations relate to completion of work required for the 
PSN connection, the updating and circulation of IT related policies, 
and ensuring that password re-set options are activated. 

Three recommendations due, three implemented. 

Digital Transformation Opinion: Green. 
One medium priority recommendation agreed. 
Recommendation relates to implementing a process for conducting 
post-implementation reviews for all digital transformation projects.

One recommendation due, one implemented.

P
age 113



Page 22 of 27

Legal & Contractual 
Advice

Opinion: Amber 
One medium priority recommendation agreed. 
Recommendation relates to creating a suite of KPIs; that include all 
necessary information, and a reporting schedule being agreed by 
senior management.

No recommendations due before 31 July 2018.

NNDR Opinion: Green. 
One medium priority recommendation agreed.
Recommendation relates to consideration of data matching 
between council systems, data sharing between departments and 
ensuring compliance with the GDPR.

No recommendations due before 31 July 2018.

Member Development Opinion: Green. 
One low priority recommendation agreed. 
Recommendation relates to Party Leaders being provided with 
attendance information on a quarterly basis.

One recommendation due, one implemented.

Creditors Opinion: Amber. 
Six recommendations agreed; three high, two medium and one low 
priority.
Recommendations relate to appropriate staff being reminded of the 
need to raise purchase orders in relation to all purchases, Managers 
being reminded that invoices for goods and services should not be 
paid via petty cash, that petty cash claims should not be authorised 
by Managers who do not have appropriate authorisation or are 
above their limit, Managers not authorising their own or close 
relatives petty cash claims, float holders being reminded to include 
remaining balances on the information provided to Exchequer 
Services and Management Team considering the removal of petty 
cash and switching the processing of expenses through the HR 
SelfServe4You system

Five recommendations due, five implemented.

P
age 114



Page 23 of 27

Borough Market – 
Income

Opinion: Amber. 
Five recommendations agreed; five medium priority.
Recommendations relate to enhancing procedures for the 
agreement and review of pitch fees, applying the correct VAT 
treatment for deposit invoices, ensuring consistent recovery 
procedures are followed, and ensuring that comprehensive records 
are retained of all cash payments received

Three recommendations due, three outstanding
Three medium priority recommendations outstanding 
relating to applying the correct VAT treatment for deposit 
invoices, ensuring consistent recovery procedures are 
followed, and ensuring that comprehensive records are 
retained of all cash payments received
*please note these recommendations were due for 
implementation 31 July 18 and no management response 
had been received by the report deadline

Business Continuity No Opinion Delivered – Consultancy Review
Four recommendations agreed; one high, two medium and one low 
priority.
Recommendations relate to the re-designing of BCP templates, a 
programme of learning for managers, the incorporation of an audit 
trail in the BCP for reviews and testing and the identification of key 
essential services.

One recommendation due, None implemented. 
One medium priority recommendation outstanding 
relating to the re-designing of BCP templates.
*please note this recommendation was due for 
implementation 31 July 18 and no management response 
had been received by the report deadline

Housing Revenue 
Account Building 
Management – 
Compliancy

Opinion: Amber. 
Seven recommendations agreed; two high, two medium and three 
low priority.
Recommendations relate to enhancement of processes for tackling 
access issues which prevent checks from being carried out, ensuring 
the electrical contract contains KPIs which are regularly monitored, 
investigating methods of ensuring safety compliance in leasehold 
properties, reviewing processes for budget monitoring, ensuring 
certificates are stored appropriately and streamlining processes for 
monitoring failed checks

Two recommendations due, one implemented. 
One high priority recommendation outstanding relating to 
investigating methods of ensuring safety compliance in 
leasehold properties.

P
age 115



Page 24 of 27

Void Property 
Management & Re-let

Opinion: Amber.
Five recommendations agreed; two high and three medium priority.
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a Voids Policy which 
includes procedure notes, amending the tenancy handbook to 
include basic repairs that tenants are expected to complete, 
ensuring all recording methods are updated regularly to ensure 
records of every element of the process are correct, a review of the 
re-let process and refresher training for officers on use of the Locata 
system.

No recommendations due before 31 July 2018.

Building Security Opinion: Amber. 
Five recommendations agreed; three high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to finalisation of the Security Policy, 
enhancement of arrangements for managing the Access Control 
System and enhancement of arrangements for managing temporary 
passes.

Four recommendations due, three implemented.
One high priority recommendation outstanding relating to 
disabling access and recovery of passes for users that no 
longer require access 

Contact Centre 
Operations

Opinion: Green. 
Four recommendations agreed; three medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to aligning the period of the Customer 
Service and Access Strategy to that of the corporate plan, resuming 
the monitoring of webchat performance, Customer Services 
champions attending the team meetings of other services and a 
review of the main reception area as part of the strategy review.

Two recommendations due, two implemented.

P
age 116



Page 25 of 27

Recommendations still outstanding more than six months after scheduled implementation date
Directorate Audit & 

Counter Fraud 
Review title

Recommendation Priority Planned 
Implementation 

Date

Management Update

Housing & 
Regeneration

Planning 
Enforcement

Arrangements should be put 
in place to monitor conditions 
made when determining 
planning applications 

High 31-Jul-14 The Council is developing a list of standard conditions and 
informatives so that future monitoring can be streamlined. 
This was delayed due to workload constraints but has 
recently re-started. The Planning Manager (Development 
Management) and Assistant Director (Planning) are 
investigating the creation of a new post for planning 
condition monitoring which could also add resilience to the 
validation team. Officers are working towards a new 
deadline date of 31 December 2018.

Housing & 
Regeneration

Planning 
Obligations

An appropriate mechanism 
should be put in place for 
monitoring planning 
obligations. 

High 30-Jun-16 Limitations of KCC’s Single Monitoring System for 
developer contributions still remain - namely that the SMS 
is live for new apps but they are having problems with 
historic records. The Planning Manager (Development 
Management) and Assistant Director (Planning) are 
hopeful that a resource can be identified who can have 
monitoring planning obligations as one of their substantive 
tasks, without causing workload difficulties elsewhere in 
the team.  Officers are working towards a new deadline 
date of 31 December 2018.

Housing & 
Regeneration

Homelessness A revised Homeless strategy 
should be written, consistent 
with local plans and strategies.

Medium 31-Dec-17 Work is continuing on the development of the Strategy and 
supporting documents, and will be informed by the 
deliberations of the Cross Party Working Group established 
following a Council meeting regarding Homelessness. The 
work of which will need to be included in the Strategy 
review and evidence base. Revised implementation date 1 
Dec 18.

Corporate 
Services /

Environment 
& Operations

Business 
Continuity (IT)

 The Plan and the Business 
Continuity plan IT services 
documents should be 
reviewed to determine 
whether it is necessary to 

High 30-Sep-17 At the time of the audit the disaster recovery 
arrangements were being moved from an onsite 
arrangement at the Brookvale Depot to completely new 
hardware and software based at the Kent and Medway 
Regional Data Centre at Gun Wharf, Chatham. This 

P
age 117



Page 26 of 27

maintain both or just one 
plan. Once this decision 
has been made the 
relevant plan(s) should be 
updated to reflect the new 
processes. 

 There should be a review 
of the revised IT continuity 
plan at least annually to 
update procedures and 
every six months for 
changes in key contact 
details 

 Once IT have revised their 
continuity plan the 
information should be fed 
into the overarching 
business continuity plan.

 The overarching business 
continuity plan, Appendix 
9, detailing the 
prioritisation of service 
recovery should be 
reviewed immediately.

 The business continuity 
plan for IT Services should 
include a testing schedule, 
monitored by the Business 
Continuity Planning Group 
or at least a member of 
management responsible 
for reviewing & testing 
effectiveness of the 
business continuity plan.

necessitated a complete rewrite of the IT business 
continuity plan, processes and procedures. This work has 
been completed and a regular review has been 
incorporated into the plan to ensure the information is 
kept up to date.
Business Continuity plans from service areas outside of IT 
are currently being completed by Service Managers using 
templates developed in partnership with Kent Fire & 
Rescue Service, drawing upon their research and 
development experience in this area over the last year. The 
information provided by service managers will be fed into 
the IT business continuity plan in order to document 
recovery prioritisations and the recovery-testing schedule.

P
age 118



Page 27 of 27

Definitions of audit opinions & Recommendation 
Priorities

Green – Risk 
management operates 
effectively and 
objectives are being 
met 

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Recommendations made are considered to be 
opportunities to enhance existing arrangements.

Amber – Key risks are 
being managed to 
enable the key 
objectives to be met 

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and recommendations have been made to 
improve this.

Red – Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met 

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety or damage to reputation.  
Recommendations have been made to introduce new controls, 
improve compliance with existing controls or improve the 
efficiency of operations.

High The findings indicate a fundamental weakness in control that leaves the 
council exposed to significant risk. The recommended action addresses 
the weakness identified; to mitigate the risk exposure and enable the 
achievement of key objectives. Management should address the 
recommendation as a matter of urgency. 

Medium The findings indicate a weakness in control, or lack of compliance with 
existing controls, that leaves the system open to risk, although it is not 
critical to the achievement of objectives. Management should address the 
recommendation within a reasonable timeframe.

Low The findings have identified an opportunity to enhance the efficiency or 
effectiveness of the system/control environment. Management should 
address the recommendation as resources allow. 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Annual Audit Letter 2017/18
	Appendix 2 2017-18 GBC Annual Audit Letter

	7 Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter
	Appendix II Annual Review Letter
	Appendix III Complaints & enquiries received
	Appendix IV Complaints and decisions
	Appendix V Decision upheld complaint
	Appendix VI LG&SCO Review of Local Government Complaints 2017-18
	Contents
	Focus reports
	Landmark cases
	Compliance with recommendations
	Statistics
	Future Reporting on Remedies


	8 Budget Monitoring Report - Q1 2018/19
	Appendix 2 MTFP - V2 - 2018-19 - BMR Q1
	Appendix 3 - HRA Business Plan
	Appendix 4 - Investments as at 30 June 2018

	9 Audit & Counter Fraud Update
	2. APPENDIX 2 A&CF Update - 1 April 2018 to 31 July 2018


